A FOLLOW - UP STUDY OF STUDENTS WHO ATTENDED THE HILLSDALE COUNTY ALTERNATIVE SCHOOL FOR PREGNANT GIRLS 1968 - 1973

Thesis for the Degree of M. A.
MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY
ARDATH M. McCALL
1975



JHESIS





9454

Py 712

327

War of

الإسكالية الم

200 A310

ABSTRACT

A FOLLOW-UP STUDY OF STUDENTS WHO ATTENDED THE HILLSDALE COUNTY ALTERNATIVE SCHOOL FOR PREGNANT GIRLS 1968-1973

By

Ardath M. McCall

A follow-up study in 1975 was designed to discover information about the girls who had enrolled during the years of 1968-1973 at the Continuing Education Center, an alternative comprehensive school program in Hillsdale County, Michigan for school-age pregnant girls. Three areas of information were sought:

- 1. What happened to the girl after she attended the Continuing Education Center?
- 2. How does the girl evaluate her experiences at the Continuing Education Center?
- 3. How does she see her role as mother? What are her needs? How can the curriculum at the Continuing Education Center help her as a mother?

A telephone interview and a questionnaire were used. Eighty-five of ninety-one girls were located for the first area of the study and the questionnaire used for the second and third areas had a 65.9% return.

It was discovered that the girls are generally married, they still live in or hear Hillsdale County and

.

they have one or two children. Most of them have finished high school but they have not sought further training. About half of the girls work, but finding jobs and arranging child care are difficult obstacles. The husbands have a higher level of education than the married girls. The unemployment rate is high, but little different than for the population in general at the time of the study.

The girls rated the Continuing Education Center very high and indicated it was very helpful in enabling them to finish high school. It was the boyfriend, husband or parent who was most influential in keeping them in school. Transportation to school was often hard to arrange and was the greatest disadvantage.

At the Center the girls particularly liked the fellowship with other girls who were pregnant, the individual help with school work and personal problems and the pre-natal classes.

Accepting the responsibility of parenthood is difficult for these girls. They also see discipline and knowing what is "right" and "wrong" as puzzling parental tasks. They are searching for values for their own lives to guide them as mothers. Much need for practical and useful training for parenthood is seen.

A FOLLOW-UP STUDY OF STUDENTS WHO ATTENDED THE HILLSDALE COUNTY ALTERNATIVE SCHOOL FOR PREGNANT GIRLS 1968-1973

Ву

Ardath M. McCall

A THESIS

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

Department of Family and Child Sciences

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author is most grateful to Dr. Margaret Bubolz for much interest, encouragement, and guidance. Her advice and assistance throughout this study was most helpful and appreciated. Thanks are also expressed to Dr. Beatrice Paloucci and Dr. Jane Oyer, members of the advisory committee, and to Dr. Linda Nelson for her special interest.

Appreciation is expressed to the Hillsdale County Intermediate School for cooperation and interest in this project. Thanks to the many fine girls who, as former students at the Continuing Education Center, provided information and returned questionnaires.

The writer is indebted to Miss Cindy Calvin for many patient hours of typing and personal assistance.

The continuing support and encouragement of James McCall was especially appreciated. His complete unselfishness and concern for the author's interests credits him with the title of "perfect husband."

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | Page |
|---------|--|
| LIST OF | TABLES |
| Chapter | |
| I. | INTRODUCTION |
| II. | REVIEW OF LITERATURE 5 |
| | Identifying the Problem |
| | Advocacy Groups |
| | Concerns About the Father |
| | Education for Parenthood 14 |
| | Solutions |
| | |
| III. | SETTING, PROCEDURES, AND POPULATION 18 |
| | Description of the Continuing Education |
| | Center |
| | Procedures |
| | The Population |
| | The Girls Who Attend the Continuing |
| | Education Center 25 |
| | The Girls Who Were Located for |
| | |
| | |
| | The Girls Who Responded to the Ouestionnaire |
| | Questionnaire 29 |
| 717 | DEMOCRATURE CHARACTERISTICS OF MAIL |
| IV. | DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE |
| | RESPONDENTS |
| | Age |
| | |
| | Residence |
| | Marital Status |
| | Size of Family |
| | Adoptions |
| | Educational Attainment |
| | Husbands' Education 41- |
| | Employment 43 |

| Chapter | | Page |
|----------|--|------|
| | Husbands' Employment | . 45 |
| v. | EVALUATION OF THE CONTINUING EDUCATION | |
| | CENTER | . 50 |
| | General Evaluation | . 50 |
| | Education Center | . 52 |
| | Education Center | . 55 |
| | Who Encouraged the Girls to Stay in School | . 58 |
| VI. | HOW THE YOUNG MOTHERS VIEW PARENTHOOD | . 62 |
| VII. | HELP FOR YOUNG MOTHERS | . 66 |
| | Needs of Young Mothers | . 66 |
| | The Need to Accept Responsibility | |
| | The Need to Find and Develop A Set of Personal Values | . 68 |
| | The Need to Understand Child Development | . 69 |
| | The Need for Techniques for Child Guidance | . 69 |
| | Where Young Mothers Get Advice | |
| | The Kind of Help Girls Want | |
| | How the Continuing Education Center | |
| | Can Help | . 76 |
| VIII. | SUMMARY, RECOMMENDATIONS AND REACTIONS | . 82 |
| | Information About the Girls Evaluation of the Continuing Education | . 82 |
| | Center | . 84 |
| | Looking at Parenthood | |
| | The Need for Values Clarification and | • 05 |
| | Personal Philosophy | . 88 |
| | Final Statement | |
| | | |
| BIBLIOGE | RAPHY | . 91 |
| ADDENDTO | ידכ | 0.3 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Tabl | e | Page |
|------|--|------|
| 1 | Enrollment, girls located, and questionnaire returns by school years | 26 |
| 2 | Age of the 85 girls as of April 1975 | 31 |
| 3 | Age range by enrollment years as of April 1975 | 31 |
| 4 | Residence as of April 1975 | 32 |
| 5 | Married Status as of April 1975 | 33 |
| 6 | Status of father of the first baby to marriage. | 34 |
| 7 | Family size | 36 |
| 8 | Education status of girls | 38 |
| 9 | Educational level of the husbands | 42 |
| 10 | Employment | 44 |
| 11 | Employment of high school graduates and non-graduates | 46 |
| 12 | Employment of husbands | 47 |
| 13 | Child care arrangements of working mothers | 48 |
| 14 | Advantages offered by the continuing education as seen by the girls | 53 |
| 15 | Family living subject areas seen as advantages by the girls | 54 |
| 16 | Disadvantages in Attending the Continuing Education Center | 55 |
| 17 | The one person most helpful in encouraging the girls to stay in school | 59 |

| Table | e | Pa | age |
|-------|--|----|-----|
| 18 | The most difficult thing about being a parent. | • | 63 |
| 19 | Specific tasks or jobs as a parent that are especially difficult | • | 67 |
| 20 | Where the girls get information to assist with raising their child | • | 71 |
| 21 | Desired sources of help for young mothers | • | 74 |
| 22 | Family living subject areas where girls desire help | • | 77 |

LIST OF APPENDICES

| Appen | dix | Page |
|-------|--|------|
| Α. | <pre>Instruments (Information Sheet, Question- naires)</pre> | 99 |
| в. | Letter to Former Students | 106 |
| c. | Individual Responses Made by the Respondents to the Question "Why Do You Feel The Continuing Education Center Should be Continued?". | |
| D. | Classification of Responses to the Question "What Do You Consider the Most Difficult Thing About Being A Parent?" | 114 |
| E. | Classification of Responses to the Question "Are There Specific Tasks or Jobs as a Parent That Are Especially Difficult?" | 119 |
| F. | Responses to Questions Regarding How The Continuing Education Center Could Help Better Prepare Girls for the Role of Mother | 125 |

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

What happens to the pregnant school-age girl after she leaves the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center? Does she finish her education? Does she marry and "live happily ever after?" Does she seek further training? Does she work? Have her experiences at the alternative school helped her carry out her role of mother? Could the Continuing Education Center have helped her more? How?

These and many other questions prompted this study.

After six years of operation of the Continuing Education

Center, it seemed appropriate to pause and ask. Any program should be continually studied and evaluated.

The Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center is an alternative public school program for pregnant girls which was developed by the Hillsdale County Intermediate School District to serve the eight school districts in the county area. In its educational role it is a comprehensive program providing academic credit in public school, counseling and social services, and health educational services. It has been in operation since the fall of 1968.

Very few follow-up studies from alternative school programs are available for study. Very few centers of this type have been in operation for this long in rural situations. The center is not only in a rural area but it has served only a white population since that is the nature of the county. Information from this study can contribute to knowledge in a realm where little is available.

The study was developed to discover information in three areas:

- 1. What happened to the girl after she attended the Continuing Education Center?
- 2. Looking back, how does she evaluate her experiences at the Continuing Education Center?
- 3. How does she view her role as a young mother? What are her needs? How can the curriculum at the Continuing Education Center help her as a mother?

The first area was designed to find information about the girls. Were they married or single? Did they finish high school? Did they seek further training or education? Were they working? This information would contribute to evaluation of the center and its philosophy.

One of the goals of the center is to help the girls finish their high school education. High school education is very important in paving the way to better jobs and advanced training.

Family living is one of the curriculum requirements of the center. With the high national rate of divorce among

teen-age marriages, was this rate following true for these girls? How many children were they having? Were they becoming truly "homemakers?"

An evaluation of the Continuing Education Center by the girls themselves was sought in the second area. What kind of an image did this alternative school make in their minds? Were they glad they attended? Would they make the same choice if they were to go through the same circumstances again? Would they encourage other girls who were pregnant to attend?

Answers to these kinds of questions are helpful not only in evaluating the program but they have implications for the promotion and development of the Center in the future.

Information about mothering which could be used in planning curriculum was the purpose of the third area. How could the Continuing Education Center help these young mothers in the task of child rearing? What kinds of problems do they see? What kinds of help do they wish they had? What are their needs?

Teen-age pregnancy is on the rise. Young mothers are keeping their babies and raising them often all by themselves. Yet most of these young mothers have had very little preparation for parenthood. The pregnancy is often unplanned and unwanted. It is important that those who

enroll in a special program designed to meet their particular needs receive the best possible curriculum.

It is a goal of this study to strengthen the Hills-dale County Continuing Education Center and its service to young mothers. Perhaps some of the findings can be applied to the search for new and better methods in education for parenthood, especially for the very young mother.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Teenage pregnancy is not a new phenomenon in the United States. It is older than the nation itself but it did not receive national attention as an issue for public concern until the 1960s. The Golden Anniversary White House Conference on Children and Youth in 1960, sparked action to "do something" about the problem. Six recommendations from this conference were significant (Recommendations: Composite Report of Forum Findings, 1970):

That every community provide a full range of public and voluntary services for the unmarried mother, including: medical, psychiatric, casework, group work, legal and financial services, education, living arrangements, and early planning for the baby; as well as services to the biological father and the parents of minor unmarried parents.

That public and private agencies join in a nationwide program of interpretation to secure citizen support for these necessary services and legislation to make them readily available.

That laws, residence requirements, or administrative regulations which restrict or deny public assistance and other public social services to needy illegitimate children and their mothers be eliminated.

That research be undertaken into the following aspects of illegitimacy: deviant cultural patterns into which many illegitimate children are born;

causes of the rising rate of illegitimacy among adolescents.

That a preventive program include identification of youngsters most likely to become unmarried parents.

That educational measures, sensitive to moral and emotional factors be instituted.

In 1962 the Children's Bureau of the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare funded a special demonstration project at the Webster School in Washington, D.C. (Howard, 1968). This project focused on meeting the many needs of the pregnant school-age girl through a school-based program where she could also obtain prenatal care and personal counseling while living at home. Because of the success of the Webster school, interest began in other communities. By 1970 there were close to 125 cities with 150 comprehensive service programs designed to meet the needs of pregnant school-age girls (Sheehan et. al., 1972).

In Michigan programs started in Bay City and Highland Park in 1965. These were followed by Detroit, Flint, Saginaw, and Kalamazoo in 1966 and 1967.

The Continuing Education Center in Hillsdale,
Michigan began operation in the fall of 1968 and was really
a pioneer as it was one of the first to be organized in a
rural area (Sheehan et. al., 1972).

Much has been written to call attention to the fact that school-age pregnancy is a soceital problem that needs attention. Marion Howard, Director, Research Utilization and information Sharing Project, Cyesis Programs Consortium, Washington, D.C., was instrumental in making the public aware of the facts through many articles and papers. Articles such as "Pregnant School-Age Girls," (Howard, 1971) point out the increased educational, medical and social risks of the pregnant adolescent. She has been joined by many others pointing out that over 200,000 school-age girls give birth annually in the United States (Herzog, 1967); that many are from a low socioeconomic background (Johnson, 1974); that they have not been allowed to finish school (Kiester, 1972); that they are a high medical risk (Stine, 1964, 1970); that they are often forced into unsuccessful marriages (Braen and Forbush, 1975).

Identifying the Problem

With the problem out in clear view many people have tried to identify and more clearly understand the teen-age girl who becomes pregnant. Why does the problem exist? Who is the girl who becomes pregnant at such an early age? What is she really like? Why did she become pregnant? (Jones, 1960; Butman, Kamm, 1965; Vincent, 1961; Keeve, 1965; Lowrie, 1965; Van Der Ahe, 1969). Colin Harrison looks at teen-age pregnancy as the product of social pathology (Harrison, 1969) and calls to society to mend its ways. W. G. Cobliner sees the problem as a phenomenon that has many dimensions (Cobliner, 1970). Robert

Berstein warns against a single causation theory and suggests that we attempt to take more dimensions into account (Bernstein, 1960).

In the search for answers many avenues are pursued. Frank Furstenberg has tried to find out why birth control is not used more often among teen-agers (Furstenberg, 1971). He contends that pregnancy is usually the unanticipated outcome of sexual activity. His goal was to identify ways to promote the use of birth control to lower the incidence of premarital pregnancy.

With the legalization of abortion, will this be an answer? Colin Harrison points out the fact that since the pregnancy is often the result of parental neglect, lack of love, insecurity, poverty or ignorance, abortion is merely frustrating these needs (Harrison, 1969).

Most writers have concentrated on treatment of the problem. They seem to be assuming that if the teen-age pregnant girl is given an opportunity for better health, education, social adjustment, and employment, she will not continue to be a problem in society and that this assistance will perhaps intervene in a cycle thus preventing or reducing the problem in the future (Faigel, 1967). Among those who work with the pregnant girls the literature breaks into three major areas: education, health, and social.

The education of the teen-age girl has received much attention. Robert Childs warns that no longer can

girls be excluded from school (Childs, 1972). Sidney P.
Marland, Jr., a former Commissioner of Education, issued a
policy statement in February of 1972 which recognized that
every girl has a right to and a need for an education
(Braen, 1975). Many states, Michigan is one (1972), have
passed laws making it illegal to exclude a girl from school
because of pregnancy. With this attention it is much less
common in the 1970's that a girl is excluded from school.

Another educational problem remains. That one is how to encourage the girl who wants to drop out to remain in school. Pregnancy is the major known cause of school dropouts (Atkyns, 1968; Aughinbaugh, 1966). The majority of these young mothers never return to school (Braen, Forbush, 1975; Kiester, 1972). It has been suggested that the alternative school would encourage some drop-outs to attend (Harrison, 1972). Rose Anderson states that the regular schools should offer special programs (Anderson, 1973). Counseling and social work are other services that could assist in motivating the drop-out but little is written to suggest how this could be done.

The fact that the teen-age pregnant girl is a high risk medically is pointed out frequently in the literature. Girls who become pregnant under age seventeen are biologically at risk for childbearing (National Academy of Sciences, 1970). They are more likely to have health complications, especially toxemia, anemia, prolonged or premature labors

(Menken, 1972). The incidence of fetal deaths and infant mortality is at a higher rate (National Center for Health Statistics, 1970). Premature births and low birth-weight infants are common (Stine, 1964; Faigel, 1967).

In the social area there are numerous concerns.

Many girls remain unmarried and become the sole support
for themselves and the child. Of those who marry a very
high number divorce. The divorce rate is three to four
times higher among those married in their teens than among
those married at a later age (Howard, 1970; National Center for Health Statistics, 1968; Burchinal, 1965). The
girls who need to work to support a family are often uneducated, unable to find work and dependant on welfare (Braen,
Forbush, 1975).

There is a problem of repeat pregnancies (Braen, Forbush, 1975). The most fertile period in life is in the late teens and these young mothers may fall into a pattern of bearing additional children for which they are not prepared to care properly (Howard, 1970).

The search for the best ways to meet the educational, social, and health needs of the pregnant girl has continued throughout the 1960's and early 1970's (Harrison, 1972; Klerman, 1975).

The Comprehensive Program

Much literature points to the multiservice or comprehensive program as the best all around assistance for

the pregnant girl (Harrison, 1972; Howard, 1970, 1972). The emphasis here is providing educational services, health service, social services, and counseling all in one program. Oscar Stine and Elizabeth Kelley identify a school situation as the most appropriate one through which all the needed services can be administered (Stine, Kelley, 1970). Marion Howard lists over twenty-five service areas that should be included in a truly comprehensive service program (Howard, 1972). She includes legal counseling, psychiatric services, financial assistance, birth control, infant care, and many other services as well as leisure time activities in addition to the usual educational, health, and social provisions. Elizabeth Herzog suggests that if services are to be truly comprehensive, they will have to serve unmarried mothers for several years after they actually become mothers (Herzog, 1967).

At this time well over 300 communities have established some form of program to provide comprehensive services to school-age girls (Braen, Forbush, 1975). Instrumental in promoting multi-service programs was a federally funded research utilization and information sharing project (originally called Cyesis Programs Consortium) known as the Consortium on Early Childbearing and Childrearing which was organized under the auspices of the Child Welfare League of America, Inc. in cooperation with the University of Pittsburgh and Yale University. The Consortium published a

quarterly bulletin called "Sharing" and distributed it and other helpful literature to those who were concerned in the welfare of school-age parents. In 1972 a special national survey was conducted to locate and describe comprehensive programs by the Graduate School of Public Health of the University of Pittsburgh. The programs of 127 different cities are described in the study report (Sheehan, et. al., 1972). Numerous journal articles describe various individual programs. Anderson, 1973; Badger, 1972; and LaBarre, 1969 are three of many. The comprehensive programs identified seem to group into three basic formats. Some have been hospital based (Grady, 1975), others have been based in the regular school (Klein, 1975), and some have been organized as special schools (Washington, 1975).

After the identification of many of the programs the Graduate School of Public Health of the University of Pittsburgh developed a set of "Guidelines for Self-Evaluation of Programs Serving Adolescent Parents" (Husting, et. al., 1973). This was distributed to the 127 known comprehensive programs for their use. James Jekel feels that every program for school-age parents needs to do a basic program evaluation but that all too often this is not done. He encourages the examination of findings in light of the written objectives of each program (Jekel, 1975).

There are very few evaluations and follow-up studies of comprehensive programs. This is probably due to the fact that most programs are only a few years old and at most, ten years old. A report on the Webster School, the nation's oldest comprehensive program, was made in 1968 by Marion Howard (Howard, 1968).

James McCarthy and Mike Syropoulas used a questionnaire to evaluate the Detroit Continuing Education Program
for Girls in 1972 (McCarthy, Syropoulas, 1972). The questionnaire was sent to one hundred students who attended
the Detroit program during the years 1966-1971. The results indicated that the program was helping the girls
finish school.

Shirley Schultz surveyed all the girls who attended the Continuation School in Saginaw, Michigan its first two years (1966-1968) during the summer of 1968. She used a follow-up questionnaire and interviews. Her results showed a significant reduction of drop-outs in the public school due to pregnancy. More girls were definitely finishing their education (Schultz, 1968).

Advocacy Groups

In June of 1969 a private, non-profit national organization was started as an advocate in promoting services for the school-age parents. The National Alliance Concerned with School-Age Parents, Inc., is headquartered in Washington, D.C. with a research and publications unit in

Syracuse, New York (Braen, Forbush, 1975). In August of 1971 an Inter-Agency Task Force on Comprehensive Programs for School-Age Parents was established in Washington, D.C. This is an agency within the federal government which encourages the provision of appropriate comprehensive services for school-age parents and their infants (Braen, Forbush, 1975). These organizations and the Consortium on Early Childbearing and Childrearing all work closely together with common goals.

Concerns About the Father

The National Alliance for School-Age Parents, the national advocacy group, has been instrumental in pointing out that every child has a father as well as a mother and that this fact should not be overlooked by those who work with teen-age pregnancy. Articles ask, "What about the father?" (Harrison, 1972). They suggest and encourage ways of including service for him in the comprehensive program plan (Howard, 1972). Reuben Pannor states that because of recent legal cases, the rights of the single father can no longer be overlooked by social agencies. He believes that the interests of child, mother, and father must always be taken into account (Pannor, 1971, 1975).

Education for Parenthood

In June of 1972, the United States Commissioner of Education and the Director of the Office of Child

Development announced that there was an appropriate role for the Federal Government in promoting parenthood education. Three federal agencies (The Office of Education, The Office of Child Development, and the National Institute of Public Health) united to promote and persuade schools and voluntary organizations to start parent education programs for all secondary school youth, both male and female (Brown, 1975). This program, known as "Education for Parenthood," promotes parent education in four ways: (Kruger, 1975)

- 1. School curriculum development
- 2. Technical assistance to organizations in program development
- 3. Encouragement of non school-based programs
- 4. Public and professional education

The over-all goal of the program is to help boys and girls prepare for effective parenthood (Clayton, 1974).

W. Stanley Kruger, Special Projects Director, Office of Education, points out that we have rediscovered that parents are very important people and that their influence on the child during his formative years should not be overlooked (Kruger, 1975). It is hoped that this program will help young people accept more responsibility for planning their own parenthood and recognizing the responsibility of becoming a parent.

This program has developed a curriculum for schools which is called "Exploring Parenthood." Instead of

teaching specific techniques, students are made "apprentices" to a responsible adult and are given interesting activities to do with children in a nursery school setting. They work with the children and then meet as a class once a week for discussions, sharing, and presentations (Clayton, 1974).

Those who have worked in the field of human ecology as well as teachers and social workers who have worked with young mothers have long recognized the need for education for parenthood (Forecast for Home Economics, 1975). Several writers have pointed out parenting education techniques that are especially useful in programs for the school-age mother (Danforth et. al., 1971; Badger, 1972; Bracken, 1971). W. Stanley Kruger emphasizes that parenthood education is an essential ingredient for every comprehensive program (Kruger, 1975).

Solutions

The literature fails to suggest many positive and workable solutions for prevention of the problem. D. Byron Oberst in his articles for the Nebraska Medical Journal recognizes a spiritual crises of the adolescent. He sees young people in a precarious position of doubting the "great truths" and society mores. He suggests that family life in the United States be re-examined and a parent and family constellation education program be promoted. His

whole emphasis on developing better moral attitudes and values was his positive suggestion (Oberst, 1970).

Clara Johnson sees poverty as being a breeding ground for adolescent pregnancy. She suggests that the way to break the cycle is to delay the first birth to the young adolescent (Johnson, 1974). She fails to give any proposed method for doing this.

The cry in the early seventies is for some new philosophy regarding the school-age pregnant girl.

Lorraine Klerman suggests some new frontiers. She cites lack of purpose in society, the lack of a meaningful role for young people, the narrow view of the role of women, and the lag between actual sexual practices and society's attitude toward them as having a significant impact on youth (Klerman, 1975).

In spite of (or maybe because of) all the emphasis on school age pregnancy the National Center for Health Statistics reports that the rate of illegitimacy for teenage women increased during the 1960's nearly 30%. Also 42% of the married women between ages fifteen and nineteen had an interval of less than eight months between marriage and the birth of the first child. One-fourth of the births to teen-age women in 1968 were illegitimate (National Center for Health Statistics, 1973).

CHAPTER III

SETTING, PROCEDURES, AND POPULATION

In order to evaluate the findings in this study it is desirable to understand some of the background. This chapter provides a description of the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center, the procedures used for the study and the respondents.

Description of the Continuing Education Center

The Hillsdale County Intermediate School District, alert to the needs of the area, with a growing concern for teen-age mothers, and an interest in alternative school centers, applied for a U.S. Government Grant through Title VI of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act to develop an educational program for the school age pregnant girl. This grant was attained and a half-time person was employed for the fall of 1968.

At that time only four similar programs had been in operation in the state of Michigan and all of these served urban areas. An alternative school center was developed for Hillsdale County where girls from the eight local districts would come together for the services. A

comprehensive service plan was followed as the needs of the school age pregnant girl were physical, mental, and social as well as academic. The name Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center was adopted.

Financing the Continuing Education Center has since changed. When the grant expired, special education funds were used through the employment of certified homebound teachers. When state legislation appropriated special financing for alternative programs in 1972 a different plan developed whereby each of the eight districts would contribute the state aid allowance for each student in attendance at the Continuing Education Center. It is still, however, administered by the Intermediate School District.

The Continuing Education Center is located in the city of Hillsdale, Michigan and rents the educational wing of a local church for its operation. This includes two large classrooms which can be divided into four small rooms, two other small rooms, (one used as a projection room and one as a lounge), a nursery, two restrooms, and the use of other church facilities including a kitchen, fellowship hall, parlor, and craft room. A parking lot is across the street and a very good public library is one block away. The city of Hillsdale is a central location for the county.

The center operates half days from 8:30 a.m. to 12:00. All academic subjects are arranged on three days

a week and all girls enrolled are required to attend. Tuesdays and Thursdays are laboratory days and classes such as typing, sewing, arts, and crafts where blocks of time are needed to help individual girls are scheduled on these days. Not every girl would be required in attendance these days—only those enrolled in certain subjects.

The staff consists of two regular teachers employed half-time. One school social worker is assigned by the Intermediate District one half-day a week to this program. The health department provides a nurse consultant. A teacher aid has been assigned three half-days a week to assist the girls who bring their babies to class. As necessary on an hourly paid basis, additional part-time teaching help has been used.

The girls attend by their own choice and remain enrolled at their own local schools. The local schools award credits and grades. The teachers at the center recommend credit and grades. The local schools have agreed to accept these recommendations. Theoretically the school could deny credit or change a grade if they felt that the student had not met their local requirements. It is the responsibility of the teacher at the Center, however, to make sure local school requirements are met.

The girl may enroll at any time during her pregnancy. All girls must be under the care of a physician and a physician's statement giving any recommendations or restrictions he requires must be submitted upon entrance.

Once the girl enrolls she may remain in the program

throughout that school year. She may return to the regular
school at any time she wishes. There is no requirement
that she must return to school as soon as the baby arrives.

The fact that the girl may continue throughout the year and bring her baby with her is a feature that has proven attractive for many girls. There are no infant care arrangements available in the area and many girls have no way of continuing unless they can bring the baby along. The half-day school is also helpful for the new mother.

Transportation can be arranged for any girl by
the use of local and Intermediate School District bussing
programs. These bus schedules are often not too convenient
and most girls elect to provide their own transportation.
However, transportation is often a problem for some girls.

Instruction is available in all general areas. It is a goal of the program to make sure that each girl can keep up her academic requirements. If a girl enrolls at the beginning of a semester she is usually encouraged to take classes in areas for which teachers at the Continuing Education Center are more qualified. If, however, a girl enters during a semester, every effort is made to help her finish the semester of work she has started.

All girls who enroll must participate in the "Family Living Class." They receive credit for this academically

as well. This part of the program includes instruction in pre-natal care, post-natal care, health, nutrition, infant care, child development, interpersonal skills, marriage, and family life. It is always flexible and geared to the needs of the class.

The nurse and social worker make regular calls to the class as well as to individuals. They often participate as part of the family living class. Great effort is made to develop an open "atmosphere" and social climate where the girls feel free to share feelings and problems.

Use of all local agencies is made as needs arise. The Baw Beese Mental Health Clinic, the Hillsdale County Department of Social Services, and the Branch-Hillsdale District Health Department are available. Legal services have also been arranged on occasion through the local bar association. Family planning assistance is available through the health department. The March of Dimes has provided much support and some class equipment. Volunteers have helped with babysitting. There is much community involvement and interest.

Procedures

The study was designed to be a follow-up study. Although the center had been in operation for six years, the girls from the previous year had only just completed their enrollment. It was therefore decided to include only the girls who had attended during the first five

years. The girls surveyed, then, are the girls who enrolled between September 1968 and June 1973.

During this five year period 91 different girls enrolled. In this county it was not difficult to locate these girls so all of them were included in the study.

To cover the first area of the study, that of finding out what had happened to each girl who had enrolled, an information sheet was developed. A copy of this sheet is in the appendix. First an attempt was made to call the girl by telephone. If she could not be reached, her parents were called. Other calls were then made to relatives or friends until someone was reached who could provide the information necessary to answer the questions on the information sheet. Eighty-five of the ninety-one girls were reached in this manner. An address was then obtained for these eighty-five.

some of the information could not be obtained on every girl. If only a friend or relative could be located, they did not always know such answers as how much education the girl's husband had, or who was caring for her child while the girl worked. Information that could not be obtained by telephone or personal interview was dependent upon correspondence. Girls who returned the questionnaire (described later) usually gladly added in a letter the information needed to complete the information sheet.

To answer the questions in the second and third study areas a questionnaire was developed. A copy of this is in the appendix. This questionnaire was sent to the eighty-five girls for whom addresses could be obtained. Fifty-six of these girls returned the questionnaire. This represents a 65.9% return.

The questionnaire was in two parts. One part entitled "Evaluation of the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center" was designed to provide information for the second area of the study. This part was sent to every girl who could be located. All fifty-six of the returned questionnaires contained this part.

The second part of the questionnaire was entitled "Viewing Parenthood." This was developed to provide information for the third study area. This was sent to all the girls who were parents. It will be pointed out later in the description of family size that seven girls (8.2%) have no children. They either placed their child for adoption, had a miscarriage or their baby died. These seven girls were not sent the second part of the questionnaire. Only fifty-two of the returned questionnaires contained this part.

The questionnaire was anonymous. It was sent with a form letter. A copy of this letter is also in the appendix. A personal note was often handwritten on the edge of

the form letter to add a friendly touch to the request.

A stamped self-addressed return envelope with a code number on it was enclosed.

The code number on the return envelope enabled the researcher to know which girls had replied. A follow-up reminder post card was sent to those who had not returned their questionnaire in two weeks.

It was interesting that almost every girl who returned the questionnaire either signed her name or put her return address on the envelope. Only five failed to identify themselves.

The final question on the questionnaire asked if the girl would like a summary of the results. Every girl indicated that she would--even the five who didn't sign their names.

The Population

Different parts of this study are based on data gathered from slightly different populations. Table 1 displays a breakdown of the enrollment, the number of girls located, and the number of questionnaire returns. Who are the girls who attend the Center? Who returned the questionnaire?

The Girls Who Attend the Continuing Education Center

The eight local school districts that make up the Hillsdale County Intermediate School District are all

TABLE 1.--Enrollment, girls located, and questionnaire returns by school years.

| School Year | 1968–1969 | 1969–1970 | 1970–1971 | 1971–1972 | 1972–1973 | All 5 Years 1968—1973 |
|---|-------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|
| Number of Girls Enrolled | 19 | 18 | 18 | 17 | 19 | 91 |
| Number of Girls Located | 19 | 17 | 17 | 15 | 17 | 85 |
| Number of Girls Who Returned Questionnaire | 14 (73.7%) return | 9 (52.9%) return | 10 (58.8%) return | 11 (73.3%) return | 12 (70.6%) return | 56 (65.9%) return |
| Number of Girls Returning "View- ing Parenthood" Section | 13 | 6 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 52 (66.7%) of the |
| Number of Years After Enroll- ment Data were Gathered | 6 years | s 5 years | s 4 years | s 3 years | s 2 years | mothers |

served by the Continuing Education Center. Any school age girl in this district who is pregnant may choose to attend. It is an alternative she may consider.

There is no accurate way to compare those who attend with the total school age pregnant girl population of the County. Most (but not all) of the school age pregnant girls who remain in school during their pregnancy do elect to come.

During the first five school years of the Continuing Education Center the enrollment each year was between 18 and 20 girls. According to census figures and records of births this is estimated to represent between one-third and one-fourth of the total number of school age girls who gave birth.

The girls who attended are the ones who wanted to keep their babies, stay at home (or establish a new home locally) and wanted to finish their high school education. Either they personally wanted to finish school or they had strong family or husband support. No girls who sought abortions enrolled at the Continuing Education Center. During the five years only six out of ninety-one girls who attended placed their babies for adoption.

The ages of the girls attending the center varied from age fourteen to age twenty. The average age at the time of enrollment was 16.4 years.

The girls who attend are from middle or low income brackets. They are all English speaking and white since that is the racial make-up of the county population.

The Girls Who were Located for the Study

The eighty-five out of ninety-one who could be located represent all of the faithful attenders and most of the partially motivated girls. All six who could not be located actually never completed academic work at the center. Each of the six had never attended classes more than five times. All six had moved from their former locations. Four had moved out of the area and no one seemed to know where. No information could be found about two of the girls.

Sixteen of the eighty-five located and included in the study also did not complete any academic work at the center. They enrolled, attended some but never enough to obtain credit for any work.

The eighty-five who were located had been out of the center from one to six years. This variance would have some implications for the interpretation of the findings. Those who were seniors in 1968 and 1969, the first year of the program, had been on their own and through school for six years. A few of the younger girls who attended during the 1972-73 school year could have still been in school at the time of the study but none were.

The Girls Who Responded to the Questionnaire

Of the eighty-five girls who were located fifty-six returned questionnaires. This is a 65.9% response of all the girls who were sent the questionnaire. The questionnaire response represents a slightly more motivated segment of girls. Of the sixteen who were located but never completed any academic work, six returned questionnaires. This is a 40% response of these girls as compared to a 72% response from girls who were located who did complete work at the center.

Not all of the girls were sent the entire questionnaire. As it was pointed out earlier, seven of the girls
had no children so they were not sent the section of the
questionnaire entitled "Viewing Parenthood." Four of the
returned questionnaires did not have this section so
fifty-two of the questionnaires represent girls who are
mothers. Since there were only seventy-eight of the girls
located who were currently mothers this represents 66.7%
of the girls who were mothers who returned the questionnaire entitled "Viewing Parenthood."

CHAPTER IV

DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RESPONDENTS

The first area of the study asked the question,

"What happened to the girl after she attended the Continuing Education Center?" The completed information sheets
provided much material for analysis.

Age

At the time that the study was made (April 1975) the average age of the eighty-five girls who were located was 20.74 years. The age range was from seventeen to twenty-five. Table 2 gives the age of the girls and Table 3 the age by year enrolled.

Residence

Most of the girls live in the area (Table 4).

Sixty-six of the eighty-five were living in Hillsdale

County at the time of the study. Six more who had moved

out of the county lived within ten miles of the county.

Six of the eleven who had left the state had gone with hus
bands who were in the service. One of these was with her

husband in Turkey.

TABLE 2.--Age of the 85 girls as of April 1975.

| Age | Number of | Girls |
|-----|-----------|-------|
| 17 | 3 | |
| 18 | 6 | |
| 19 | 11 | |
| 20 | 21 | |
| 21 | 16 | |
| 22 | 11 | |
| 23 | 13 | |
| 24 | 2 | |
| 25 | 2 | |
| | 85 | |

TABLE 3.--Age range by enrollment years as of April 1975.

| School Year Enrolled | Age Range as of April 1975 |
|----------------------|----------------------------|
| 1968-1969 | 20 yr 25 yr. |
| 1969-1970 | 20 yr 23 yr. |
| 1970-1971 | 20 yr 22 yr. |
| 1971-1972 | 18 yr 22 yr. |
| 1972-1973 | 17 yr 21 yr. |
| | |

Only 10 girls out of eighty-five now live in a community larger than 10,000. (Hillsdale with a population of 8,000 is the largest community in the County.)

TABLE 4.--Residence as of April 1975.

| | Number of | Girls |
|--|-----------|-------|
| In Hillsdale County | 66 | |
| In Michigan but outside Hillsdale County | 8 | |
| In Another State | 10 | |
| In Another County | _1 | _ |
| Total | 85 | |

Marital Status

Most of the girls in the study were married.

Sixty-eight were married at the time of the study. Only five remained unmarried. Table 5 shows the marital status of the girls by year enrolled. The girls who had remarried were not counted as divorced in this table although they had been at one time.

Of the girls who were married or remarried, fifty were married to the father of the first baby, the pregnancy for which the girl enrolled at the center (Table 6). This represents 58.5% of the girls who were married to the father of the first baby. Another 21% or eighteen girls were married but to a person other than the father of the first baby.

TABLE 5.--Married Status as of April 1975.

| | 1968- | 1968-1969 | 1969. | 1969-1970 | 1970 | 1970-1971 | 1971- | 1971-1972 | 1972 | 1972-1973 | To | Total |
|-----------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|----------|
| | No. of Girls | of & | No. of Girls | off % | No. of Girls | of & |
| Unmarried | Н | (2) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | 1 | (7) | 3 | (18) | 2 | (9) |
| Married | 14 | (74) | 10 | (69) | 13 | (42) | 11 | (73) | 11 | (64) | 29 | (69) |
| Separated | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | - | (9) | 0 | (0) | ო | (18) | 4 | (2) |
| Divorced | Н | (2) | 7 | (12) | m | (18) | 7 | (13) | 0 | (0) | ∞ | (6) |
| Remarried | m | (16) | Ŋ | (53) | 0 | (0) | Н | (7) | 0 | (0) | 6 | (11) |
| Total | 19 | (100) | 17 | (100) | 17 | (100) | 15 | (100) | 17 | (100) | 82 | 85 (100) |

TABLE 6.--Status of father of the first baby to marriage.

| | 1968-1969 | 1969 | 1969-1970 | 1970 | 1970-1971 | 1971 | 1971-1972 | -1972 | 1972-1973 | 1973 | To | Total |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------|------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|------|-----------------|-------|-----------------|------|-----------------|-------|
| | No. of Girls | £ | No. of Girls | ati Se | No. of Girls | £ 8 | No. of Girls | of s | No. of Girls | % | No. of Girls | of & |
| Married to Father of First Baby | 14 | (74) | ∞ | (47) | 12 | (71) | 7 | (47) | 6 | (53) | 50 | (65) |
| Married to a Differ- ent Person | က | (16) | 7 | (41) | 1 | (9) | Ŋ | (33) | 7 | (12) | 18 | (21) |
| Never Married | H | (2) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | Н | (7) | m | (18) | ស | (9) |
| Separated or Divorced | Н | (2) | 7 | (12) | 4 | (23) | 2 | (13) | က | (18) | 12 | (14) |
| Total | | | | | | | | | | | 85 | (100) |

Size of Family

Most of the girls seemed to be limiting their family to two children. Table 7 shows a breakdown on family size. Only 7% of the eighty-five girls had more than two children. Only a few years had lapsed for many of the girls, however, so no real trend can be demonstrated by the statistics.

There had been some miscarriages and stillborn infants or infant deaths as well as six children placed for adoption. These reasons account for the fact that seven girls out of eighty-five had no children two to six years after their first pregnancy.

It is significant that nearly 45% of the girls did have a second child. There appears to be a trend to complete a family. All of these are married girls. In this study no unmarried girl had a second child and kept it.

The 1968-69 class of girls had the largest families. Of course, there had been more time to have children because six years had lapsed. Twenty-six percent of that group had three or four children, but in the same class, 10% did not have a child and 21% more have never had a second child.

Adoptions

The adoption rate at the Continuing Education Center has been very low. Only 7% or six girls out of

TABLE 7.--Family size.

| Number of | 1968. No. (| 1968-1969 No. of 。 | 1969-1 No. of | 1969-1970 No. of | 1970-19 No. of | 97 | 1971-19 No. of | 97 | 1972-1 No. of | 1972-1973 No. of | To No. | |
|-----------|----------------|-----------------------|------------------|---------------------|-------------------|---------|-------------------|--------|------------------|---------------------|-----------|------------|
| Cultaren | Girls | ۶ ا | Girls | | Girls | ¢ , | Girls | 6 | Girls | | Girls | ري ا |
| 0 | 7 | (10.5) | 0 | (0) | | (0) 0 | т | (20.0) | 2 | (11.8) | | 7 (8.2) |
| 1 | 4 | (21.1) | 4 | (23.5) | 9 | (52.9) | 9 | (40.0) | 11 | (64.7) | | 34 (40.0) |
| 7 | ∞ | (42.1) | 12 | (70.6) | ω | (47.1) | 9 | (40.0) | 4 | (23.5) | | 38 (44.7) |
| ĸ | 4 | (21.1) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | 4 | 4 (4.7) |
| 4 | Н | (5.2) | Н | (5.9) | 0 | 0) | 0 | (0) | 0 | (0) | 7 | 2 (2.4) |
| Total | | | | | | | | | | | 85 | 85 (100.0) |

ninety-one placed the baby for adoption. Two of these were adopted by the grandmother. Only four were placed through an agency.

The Continuing Education Center is a difficult place for the girl to make the decision to place her child for adoption. Most of the girls who attend want to (or feel they should) keep their babies and often they make the girl who might want to place her child for adoption feel guilty. A great deal of effort on the part of the staff is made to avoid this peer pressure. Nevertheless, some of it does exist.

Agency counselors tell the girl she must make up her own mind and it is difficult for a teen-age girl to take an objective look at what is best for the baby. It is easy for her to feel that she wants her own baby and emotionally she does. Many of the girls come from home situations where they do not feel loved. This baby is someone to love and they cannot part with it.

Educational Attainment

The goal of the Continuing Education Center to enable girls to finish high school is being partially met. Seventy-three percent of the girls who enrolled actually finished high school (Table 8). This is certainly much higher than had there been no alternative school as a large number would have just dropped out.

TABLE 8.--Education Status of Girls.

| | 1968-19 | ll (o | 1969-1970 | 1970 | 1970-1971 | 1971 | 1971 | 97 | 1972-1973 | 1973 | T _O | |
|---|---------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|----------|--------|--------|-----------|-----------|----------------|---------|
| | Number | % I | Number | w | Number | ю Н | Number | er * | Number | ю Н | Number | er * |
| Finished h.s. by returning to home district | m | (15.8) | м | (17.6) | m | (17.6) | 9 | (40.0) | 7 | (11.8) 17 | 17 | (20.0) |
| Finished h.s. at home dis- trict while enrolled at C.E.C. | 7 | (36.8) | 7 | (41.2) | 7 | (41.2) | 7 | (13.3) | 9 | (35.3) | 29 | (34.1) |
| Finished h.s. in adult night school | ហ | (26.3) | m | (17.6) | m | (17.6) | 7 | (13.3) | п | (5.9) | 14 | (16.5) |
| Finished h.s. in another program | 1 | (5.2) | 0 | (0) | 7 | (6.5) | 0 | 0) | 0 | (0) | 7 | (2.3) |
| Did not finish h.s. | ٣ | (15.8) | 4 | (23.5) | က | (17.6) | Ŋ | (33.3) | ∞ | (47.0) | 23 | (27.1) |
| Total | | | | | | | | | | | 82 | (100.0) |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Many of those who did not finish school also did not complete any work at the Continuing Education Center. As mentioned earlier sixteen of the eighty-five did not complete any academic work while enrolled in the program. This means that only seven of those who did complete work at the Center failed to go back and finish high school.

Some girls do not seem motivated academically. They are not convinced of any value in completing their education. Pregnancy seemed to be the excuse they were looking for to drop out. Often adults put pressure on these girls to stay in school and some of them enroll for a while at the Continuing Education Center but they are poor attenders and never complete their work.

Perhaps the most common reason for the more motivated girl not to finish school is that there are no infant care arrangements. The girls can remain enrolled at the center for the remainder of the school year but the following year they are required to return to the regular school. If they have no child care arrangement they stay home.

The establishment of a county-wide adult evening school in Hillsdale has served many of these young mothers. It is significant that fourteen of the sixty-two who finished high school did so at the adult evening school. This is 23% of the girls who finished.

Thirty-five of the girls who finished high school were seniors when they enrolled at the Continuing Education Center so they were very close to finishing. Twentynine of these finished their work at the center while six returned to the regular school for the end of their senior year.

One girl received her high school diploma at an adult education program in California while she was there with her husband who was in service. One other girl completed her work through a correspondence program.

It is interesting to note that only seventeen of the girls who finished high school actually returned to the regular school to finish their work while sixteen who finished high school completed their work through night school or other programs.

Very few of the girls have had any additional education beyond high school. None of the eighty-five girls have enrolled in any college level education. Two of the high school graduates have completed nurses aid training programs at a local medical care facility. One girl enrolled in a nursing school and received her certificate as a Licensed Practical Nurse. One girl enrolled at a local beauty school and is a licensed beautician. These represent only four out of eighty-five girls or 4.7% who have sought any training beyond high school.

Reasons for this are many. No doubt the leading one is the need to stay home and take care of a child. There are very few opportunities for training in this area and most any program would require driving outside the county. The cost of further training would be difficult for these young mothers to meet. The two who completed nurses aid training did so as a part of an employee training program while they were working part-time.

The one girl who did enroll in a nursing school had to drive to another county. Her baby was stillborn so she had no children. She also had financial assistance from her parents although she was married.

Husbands' Education

Information was sought regarding the educational status of the husbands. It was not possible to obtain information about the husbands in five instances because the informant simply did not know. Information was obtained, however, about sixty-three of the sixty-eight married girls' husbands. This represents 93% of the husbands (Table 9).

The husbands had attained a much higher level of education than the girls. Twenty-seven percent of the eighty-five girls still had not completed high school, but only 13% of the sixty-eight husbands had not completed high school and about 15% of them had taken some work on a college or junior college level.

TABLE 9. -- Educational level of the husbands.

| | | 1968-1969 | -196 | | 1969-1970 | 1970 | 1970 | 1970-1971 | 197. | 1971-1972 | 1972 | 1972-1973 | Total | tal |
|--------------------------|--------------------|-----------|--------|-----|-----------|-----------|-------|-----------|-------|--|------|-----------|----------|------------------|
| | 1 | Number | | ф | Number & | ۳ ه | Numb | Number % | Numl | Number & | Numb | Number & | Number % | er 8 |
| Less than High School |). 1 | ж | (17.6) | (9. | 1 | 1 (6.7) 2 | 2 | (15.4) | 2 | (15.4) 2 (16.7) 1 (9.1) 9 (13.2) | Н | (9.1) | 6 | (13.2) |
| Finished High School | 21 | 12 | (70.6) | (9. | 6 | 6 (0.09) | 6 | (69.2) 7 | 7 | (58.3) 7 | 7 | (63.6) | 44 | (63.6) 44 (64.7) |
| Beyond High School | ĵћ | 2 | (11.8) | .8 | 7 | (13.3) 2 | 7 | (15.4) 2 | 2 | (16.7) 2 | 7 | (18.2) | | 10 (14.7) |
| No Informa- tion | i es | 0 | 0 | ^ | m | (20.0) | 0 | (0) | 7 | (20.0) 0 (0) 1 (8.3) 1 | Н | (9.1) | | 5 (7.4) |
| Total | | 17 | (100% | | 15 | (100%) 13 | 13 | (100%) 12 | 12 | (100%) 11 | 11 | (100%) | 89 | (100%) |
| NOTE: Inf | Information is for | on is | s fo | | e hus | bands | at th | e time | of tj | the husbands at the time of the study. | • | | | |

Employment

When talking with teen-age pregnant girls it is interesting that very few seem to see themselves working. They have little idea what they want to do or be. Those who are going to be married are often quite sure that they won't "have to work." Yet Table 10 shows that within six years, 56.5% of the girls are either working or looking for work. It is true that 40% are not looking for work now and are full-time wives and mothers. Some of these will no doubt be in the job market as soon as their children are all in school.

From personal knowledge of the girls it is believed that another six or seven would have liked to work if they thought they could. Most of these girls would not find work easily because they have no training or experience or knowledge about how to get a job. It is possible that the easy reply to the question in this study was they were simply "not looking."

Nearly 22.4% of the girls who indicated they wanted work were unemployed at the time of the study. The study was done during the worst part of the recent recession and the unemployment rate was very high. Many of these girls were layed off from good jobs. Some were expecting to be called back.

A comparison regarding employment of girls who are high school graduates with those who are not is interesting

TABLE 10. -- Employment.

| | 1968 | 1968-1969 | 1969- | 1969-1970 | 1970 | 1970-1971 | 1971 | 1971-1972 | 1972- | 1972-1973 | Total | al |
|-----------------------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------|
| | Number | er % | Number | er 8 | Number | er % | Number | er & | Number | er & | Number | اد % |
| Works Full Time | 9 | (31.6) | က | (17.6) | 5 | (29.4) | ß | (33.3) | 7 | (11.9) | | 21 (24.7) |
| Works Part Time | m | (15.8) | Н | (6.5) | 2 | (11.8) | - | (6.7) | ٦ | (5.9) | 8 | (9.4) |
| Out of Work | 8 | (10.5) | ĸ | (17.6) | က | (17.6) | 4 | (26.7) | 7 | (41.1) | 19 | (22.4) |
| Does Not Seek Work | ω | (42.1) | ω | (47.1) | 9 | (35.3) | Ŋ | (33.3) | 7 | (41.1) | 34 | (40.0) |
| No Informa- tion | 0 | (0) | 7 | (11.8) | Н | (5.9) | 0 | (0) | 0 | 0) | | 3 (3.5) |
| Total | 19 | (100%) | 17 | (100%) | 17 | (100%) | 15 | (100%) | 17 | 17 (100%) | 85 | (100%) |

(Table 11). A larger percentage of high school graduates are working than non-high school graduates. Also, a larger percentage of high school graduates do not seek work than non-high school graduates. A larger percentage of the non-high school graduates were out of work.

Husbands' Employment

The employment status of the husband is represented in Table 12. As cited previously, the study was done at a time of very high unemployment in the midst of the 1974-75 recession. At the time of the study, 19% of the husbands were unemployed. Since the age level of these husbands is in the category of very high unemployment it is surprising that the percentage is not higher.

Child Care

Child care was one of the reasons for not working that was mentioned by many of the girls. There are no day-care centers in the county and satisfactory baby sitting arrangements are difficult to find. Table 13 shows how those girls who did work arranged for child care.

Of the girls who work, one third of them (7 out of 21) took their child or children to a baby sitter's home. In two instances this was also a relative. Four girls (19%) worked a different shift from that of the husband so he watched the child while she worked.

TABLE 11. -- Employment of high school graduates and nongraduates.

| | High | High School Grad | High | Not High School Grad | | Total |
|--------------------------|--------|------------------|--------|-------------------------|--------|----------------|
| | Number | 8 J. | Number | * J | Number | .r. |
| Works Full Time | 17 | (27.4) | 4 | (17.4) | 21 | $(24.7)_{2.1}$ |
| Works Part Time | Ŋ | (8.1) | m | (13.0) | ∞ | (9.4) |
| Out of Work | 13 | (21.0) | 9 | (26.1) | 19 | (22.4) |
| Does Not Seek Work | 26 | (41.9) | ∞ | (34.8) | 34 | (40.0) |
| No Information | Н | (1.6) | 7 | (8.7) | e | (3.5) |
| Total Number of Girls | 62 | (100%) | 23 | (100%) | 85 | (100%) |

TABLE 12. -- Employment of husbands.

| | 1968-19 | | 1969-1 | 970 | 1970- | 69 1969-1970 1970-1971 | 1971- | 1971-1972 1972-1973 | 1972- | 1973 | To | Total |
|---------------------|---------|--------|----------|-------|-------|--|-------|---------------------|-------|----------|----------|--------|
| | Number | er % | Number % | 96 | Numbe | Number % | Numbe | Number % | Numbe | Number % | Number % | er % |
| Employed | 16 (9 | |) / | 46.7) | 10 | 4.1) 7 (46.7) 10 (76.9) 11 (91.7) 6 (54.5) 50 (73.5) | 11 | (91.7) | 9 | (54.5) | 20 | (73.5) |
| Unemployed | Н | (5.9) | 2 (| 33.3) | ю | 5.9) 5 (33.3) 3 (23.1) 0 (0) 4 (36.4) 13 (19.1) | 0 | (0) | 4 | (36.4) | 13 | (19.1) |
| No Informa- tion | 0 | (0) | 3 | 20.0) | 0 | 0) 3 (20.0) 0 (0) 1 (8.3) 1 (9.1) 5 (7.4) | 7 | (8.3) | ч | (9.1) | rV | (7.4) |
| Total | 17 | (1) | 15 (| 100%) | 13 | 00%) 15 (100%) 13 (100%) 12 (100%) 11 (100%) 68 (100%) | 12 | (100%) | 11 | (100%) | 89 | (100%) |

TABLE 13.--Child care arrangements of working mothers.

| Number of Girls Working Full Time | | Child Care Arrangement |
|---|-------|---|
| 7 | (33%) | Took child to a baby sitter's home |
| 4 | (19%) | Had no baby (either had no baby or placed child for adoption) |
| 4 | (19%) | Husband |
| 2 | (10%) | Mother |
| 2 | (10%) | Baby sitter came to home |
| _2 | (10%) | Day care center |
| 21 | Total | |
| Number of Girls Working Part Time | | |
| 3 | (38%) | Watch own child while working |
| 2 | (25%) | Nursery school |
| 2 | (25%) | Mother |
| _1 | (12%) | Neighbor |
| 8 | Total | |

Four girls who worked (also 19%) were not responsible for the care of a baby. The reasons were varied; one girl's baby was stillborn, one child had been placed for adoption, one was in foster care, and one was in the custody of the divorced husband.

Two girls left their babies with their mothers while they worked; two others had a baby sitter come to their home, and two had found day care centers. Both of the girls who used a day care center had moved out of the county.

To give a general picture, it can be said that at the age of twenty, after attending the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center the girls are for the most part, married. They are still living in the Hillsdale County area and they have one or two children. Most of them finished high school but have not sought further training. Some of the girls work but finding jobs and arranging child care are difficult obstacles. Most of the girls who do work make individual arrangements with a baby sitter, usually in the baby sitter's home. The husbands have a higher level of education than the girls and the unemployment rate is the same as for the population in general.

CHAPTER V

EVALUATION OF THE CONTINUING EDUCATION CENTER

General Evaluation

The Continuing Education Center was well thought of by the girls who had attended and who returned the questionnaire. Two questions were asked regarding the feelings the girls had as they thought back on the enrollment at the Center.

Fifty-two of the fifty-six girls or 93% indicated that they were glad that they had enrolled at the Continuing Education Center. None of the girls wished they had stayed in public school or had dropped out completely which were two of the other options to the same question. The four girls who did indicate a different feeling finished an open ended statement which said, "I wish I had _____."

Two stated they wish they had stayed in school. Since they had the option to indicate a desire to stay in public school but did not choose it, perhaps they were lamenting a fact that they didn't finish (which neither of them did). One girl stated that she wished she had enrolled at night school. One girl said she wished she had "applied for a scholarship" which was a puzzling answer since there was

no need for this. The only interpretation might have been that she would have liked to have gone on for further education beyond high school and she wishes she had tried to find a scholarship to help her do that.

To the second question regarding feelings about the Center, fifty-one girls or 91% indicated they had pleasant memories as they looked back on their enrollment. The other five or 9% indicated that the Center "was o.k." None of the girls who responded indicated that they "really didn't like to attend," or that they "disliked it very much." (These were the two remaining options.)

It should be noted, however, that only fifty-six of the eighty-five girls located returned the question-naire. It could be quite possible that some of those girls might not have "had pleasant memories" and didn't bother to return the questionnaire to say so. The questionnaire was anonymous so the girls had the opportunity to be critical.

All of the girls indicated that an alternative school such as the Continuing Education Center should be continued. They wrote comments regarding why and one of the typical ones said, "It best fits the physical and emotional needs for the pregnant girl, because in all truth, she is in a predicament." The comments were extremely interesting and are listed individually in the appendix.

They express some of the deep feelings that the girls had.

They demonstrate loneliness and the need for special understanding.

Fifty-five of the fifty-six girls (98.2%) felt that pregnant girls who drop out of school should be encouraged to go back and finish. They also indicated that they would encourage a friend to attend the Continuing Education Center. One respondant in regard to whether girls should be encouraged to finish said, "Yes and notit's up to them." The same girl said, "It depends on the circumstances" as to whether she would encourage a friend to attend the Continuing Education Center.

The responses certainly indicate that the Continuing Education Center was well thought of by those who had attended.

Advantages in Attending the Continuing Education Center

The girls liked the fellowship with other girls who were also pregnant. They also appreciated the individual help with school work and with personal problems. Nearly 80% of the girls checked one of these three categories as their first choice from a list of advantages of the center. Table 14 shows how the girls checked their first choice.

This certainly points out the great need that these girls have for understanding and support. Danforth, Miller, Day, and Steiner in their article, "Group Services for

TABLE 14.--Advantages offered by the continuing education as seen by the girls.

| | Number (N=56) | ક |
|---|------------------|-------|
| Fellowship with other girls who also are pregnant | 17 | 30.3 |
| More individual help with school work | 15 | 26.8 |
| Help with personal problems | 12 | 21.4 |
| Special subjects | 5 | 8.9 |
| More privacy | 3 | 5.4 |
| Can bring baby to class | 2 | 3.6 |
| Shorter school hours | 1 | 1.8 |
| No answers | _1 | 1.8 |
| | 56 | 100.0 |
| | | |

Unmarried Mothers" indicated that the girls only feel that other girls who are in the same situation really understand them (Danforth, et. al., 1971). They long to be a part of a group where they can be accepted and can share inner thoughts and feelings.

Many of the girls who enroll at the Continuing Education Center are quite lost and poorly motivated in public school. It is quite common for a girl to express feelings that "none of the teachers like me" or "the school is no good," or "the teachers have favorites and I'm not one."

It was not surprising that many girls saw the individual

help and attention at the Continuing Education Center one of the greatest advantages.

Several areas of the family living program were listed under special subjects that might be considered advantages of the Continuing Education Center. The first choice was pre-natal care which was checked by 61% of all the girls responding. Thirty-eight of the girls indicated their first choice of subject area; Table 15 indicates these responses.

TABLE 15.--Family living subject areas seen as advantages by the girls.

| | Number Responding (N=38)* | Percent of Respondents | | | | |
|----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Prenatal care | 23 | 60.6 | | | | |
| Marriage | 5 | 13.2 | | | | |
| Family relationships | 4 | 10.5 | | | | |
| Infant care | 3 | 7.9 | | | | |
| Home management | 1 | 2.6 | | | | |
| Money | 1 | 2.6 | | | | |
| Other(Sharing ideas) | _1 | 2.6 | | | | |
| | 38 | 100.0 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

^{*}Not all girls responded to this question.

Disadvantages in Attending the Continuing Education Center

One question on the survey asked the girls to check from a list the disadvantages of attending the Continuing Education Center (Table 16). There was also an opportunity

TABLE 16.--Disadvantages of the Continuing Education Center as seen by the girls.

| _ | | | |
|---|------------------|--------|-------|
| | Number (N=56) | ફ | |
| No disadvantages (stated) | 11 | 19.7 | 25% |
| No answer checked | 3 | 5.3 | 235 |
| Transportation | 12 | 21.4 | |
| It separated me from my friends | 8 | 14.3 | |
| Teachers are limited in some areas | 5 | 8.9 | |
| Limited class offerings | 4 | 7.1 | 23.1% |
| Only one or two teachers for everything | 4 | 7.1 | |
| Lack of support from parents or husband | 4 | 7.1 | |
| Limited social life | 2 | 3.6 | |
| Location | 1 | 1.8 | |
| Going to school with only young mothers | 1 | 1.8 | |
| Too short of time for school | _1 | 1.8 | |
| Total | 56 | (99.9) | |

offered to add any other disadvantages they could recall. It was interesting that fourteen of the questionnaires (25%) did not respond to this question by checking any category. Eleven of these wrote a note at the side indicating that they didn't feel there were any disadvantages. This was the largest single category and yet there was no space allowed for checking "no disadvantages."

Several of the questionnaires had only one or two of the categories marked even though many could have been. Often the only one marked was transportation which was the largest category with twelve girls (21.4%) indicating this as a disadvantage.

Transportation has long been recognized as a leading problem. The program serves about a twenty mile radius. Transportation can be arranged on a public school bus for any girl but this means a long bus ride and a change of buses at the local school for most girls. The other busing opportunity is the "handicap" bus. The timing is difficult because most buses do not return until afternoon. Although the girls can come, bring a lunch, and study either at the Center or the library until the bus returns, this they do not like to do. They also do not like to ride the public school buses when they are pregnant or when they need to bring their baby. They dislike the "handicap" bus because it usually means riding with mentally retarded or physically impaired children.

There simply are not funds for a busing arrangement just for the Continuing Education Center. Therefore, usually the girls prefer to find their own way to school. Many girls either do not drive or have no car and have no one who can bring them. It is known that lack of private transportation has prevented several girls from enrolling at the Center.

The second most common disadvantage checked by eight girls (14.3%) was "it separated me from my friends."

This is interesting since the most commonly checked advantage was "fellowship with other girls who are also pregnant."

Obviously the girls are glad to make new friends but at the same time they want to keep the old ones.

Three categories checked by thirteen of the girls (23.1%) speak to the same problem. With only two regular teachers for all the academic subjects that the school curriculum requires it is unavoidable that in some areas the teachers are limited. Funding again is an issue. It would be financially impossible and impractical to employ more teachers. Perhaps a better arrangement might be worked out with shared teachers but this is very difficult when the facility is in a separate location.

Every effort possible is put forth by the current teachers to compensate in limited areas. Often voluntary assistance is sought, and usually obtained, from the public school teacher. Frequently a change in schedule can be

made which allows the girl to wait until she gets back to regular school to finish a subject in a difficult area. More funding in 1975 allowed the employment of a part-time teacher on an hourly basis to supplement the teaching staff.

Occasionally a girl has a difficult time getting her husband to cooperate with her schooling. Four girls surveyed indicated this as a disadvantage. Too often a young husband seems to be unwilling to share the girl's time.

Who Encouraged the Girls to Stay in School

Who is the person who is most often effective in encouraging a girl to stay in school? For these girls who became pregnant and had to make a decision about school, it was the closest associates—either a parent, or a husband or boyfriend (Table 17).

Eighteen girls or 32.1% named a parent as being the one person most helpful in encouraging them to stay in school. This was the single most often checked category. It is easy to think that parents have little influence over a teen-ager but this would indicate the contrary.

Very close to this, 14 girls (25%) indicated that it was their husband or boyfriend who was most encouraging of their education. This seemed a little surprising since in actual experience it so often had been the demands made

TABLE 17.--The one person most helpful in encouraging the girls to stay in school.

| | Number of Girls (N=56) | 8 |
|--|------------------------------|-------|
| A parent | 18 | 32.1 |
| Husband or boyfriend | 14 | 25.0 |
| A teacher at the Continuing Education Center | 10 | 17.9 |
| Myself | 7 | 12.5 |
| The public school principal | 3 | 5.3 |
| The public school counselor | 2 | 3.6 |
| A friend | 2 | 3.6 |
| A public school classroom teacher | 0 | 0 |
| A doctor | 0 | 0 |
| A social worker | _0 | 0 |
| Total | 56 | 100.0 |

by a new husband at home that had seemed to prevent a girl from continuing.

There may be a relationship here to the educational level of the husbands. Only 13% of the husbands had less than a high school education and 14.7% had completed education beyond high school. Perhaps with the higher level of education, some of the husbands or boyfriends were more encouraging of their wives.

Taking the top two categories together it is significant that 57.1% of the girls were most encouraged by a very close family member or boyfriend--someone who cared very much about them personally, about their welfare and future. However, a large percentage or 42.9% did not have a parent or husband or boyfriend who most effectively encouraged them to stay in school.

Ten of the girls (17.9%) found a teacher at the Continuing Education Center most helpful. Encouraging the girls to stay in school and showing them how this is possible has always been a goal of the staff at the Center. For some girls, at least this has been the most helpful encouragement and these findings point out the importance of this emphasis.

One surprising result was the category "myself."

This was not a category on the questionnaire although the opportunity to add persons to the list was provided. Seven girls (12.5%) wrote in this category. They thought of themselves as the one person who wanted them to finish high school the most. How can this attitude be created in more persons? What fostered this self-motivation?

Another interesting result was the fact that no girls checked the categories of doctor, social worker, or public school classroom teacher as being most helpful. All three of these people are available to the girls for counseling. Only two girls (3.6%) received this kind of

encouragement from the public school counselor and three others (5.3%) from the public school principal.

The concern of significant people in a girls'
life is most important. This is certainly demonstrated
here. If parents, husband or boyfriend do not care, then
who?

CHAPTER VI

HOW THE YOUNG MOTHERS VIEW PARENTHOOD

How does the young mother who is two to five years out of school view her role as mother? What problems does she have in carrying out her parenting responsibilities?

The questionnaire designed to discover these answers asked, "What do you consider the most difficult thing about being a parent?" The answers were varied and sincere. Table 18 shows a classification of the responses. The individual responses in each classification are listed in the appendix.

The young mother who attended school at the Hills-dale County Continuing Education Center is very concerned about the responsibility she has as a parent. She considers it a difficult thing to accept this responsibility and she sees it as a "great" responsibility.

It is easy for older persons to judge the teen-age mother as not responsible. Perhaps she was unaware of the extent of being "responsible" before she became a parent, but there is little doubt that she is aware of it now as she carries out the role of parent.

TABLE 18. -- The most difficult thing about being a parent.

| Response Classification | Number of Total | Responses = 58* |
|---|--------------------|--------------------|
| Accepting the responsibility of raising a child | | 20 |
| Teaching moral values | | 7 |
| Having patience | | 7 |
| Discipline | | 6 |
| Loss of personal freedom | | 5 |
| Understanding the child | | 5 |
| Managing time or money | | 3 |
| Accepting advice | | 2 |
| Nothing | | 2 |
| Being overprotective | | 1 |

NOTE: Some girls named more than one thing. Both were listed.

The burdened response, "having the responsibility of a dependent child's life in your hands" as the most difficult thing about being a parent, is typical of the feelings expressed. This is little different from what might be expressed by a mother of any age.

The young mother is concerned about the moral and spiritual values of her child and how she is going to know how and what to teach him. A response such as, "deciding what values I want my children raised with" as the most difficult thing about being a parent shows an uncertainty

in the mind of the girl herself about what values are important or what is right and what is wrong. The young mother is searching for herself and is concerned that she finds the "right way" to guide her child before it is too late.

The young mother is very concerned about disciplining her child. She refers to "discipline" as if she meant "how to punish him when he is naughty." She wants to know when she should punish and how she should punish and how to "get him to mind." This is tied in with "what is right" and "what is wrong." She sees discipline as an especially difficult task, often the most difficult thing about being a parent.

The young mother is concerned about having patience to cope with this separate individual that she is responsible for, who all too often says "no" when mother wants him to say "yes." She often feels that she does not understand her child. She doesn't know why he doesn't mind and this worries her.

This mother somewhat regrets her loss of personal freedom as she sees her unmarried friends doing things that she would also enjoy, but can't. She feels "tied down." She finds that too many things need to be done and there isn't enough time. She sees herself under too many demands. She is very busy. How do you "find time to give proper

attention to your children, the housework, and your husband all in one day?"

Many individual tasks are difficult for the young mother. She is especially frustrated in getting her children to eat the right foods and by toilet training. She is concerned that they might not learn the basics of ABC's and numbers if she doesn't get them started properly. She is worried when the child is ill and often "feels so help-less."

Above all, the young mother wants to be a good mother and she worries about this. She is trying very hard but she is not sure that she's doing things "right."

"The task I worry about is that if I'll raise my child the way he or she should be."

These attitudes are quite serious and mature. It would be difficult to assess the age of the respondents by reading the statements. Many of the statements regarding responsibility seem excessively burdened such as: "having to raise her myself," "just knowing that everything you do and say effects the way your children think and do as they grow up," and "to me, that's just one word, worry!"

Unfortunately, no question was asked regarding the joys and rewards of parenthood. This was needed to counterbalance the problem areas.

CHAPTER VII

HELP FOR YOUNG MOTHERS

Needs of Young Mothers

One of the objectives of the questionnaire was to evaluate the effectiveness of the special family living program at the Continuing Education Center in providing help for the young mother. One question was designed to find out what areas and tasks of parenthood the girls found most difficult. This information could then be used to plan a more effective program that would perhaps provide help and assistance.

The question asked, "Are there specific tasks or jobs as a parent that are especially difficult? Please list." This was not always answered and yet many of the girls listed two or three. The responses were coded and categorized into thirteen areas. Table 19 shows the categories and responses. A complete list of responses is placed in the appendix.

After careful analysis, it seemed necessary to summarize the basic "needs" that were evident in the responses. These needs could become objectives for the planning of curriculum. The responses fit into four need areas.

TABLE 19.--Specific tasks or jobs as a parent that are especially difficult.

| Response Classification | Number of Responses (N=52) |
|---|----------------------------|
| Discipline | 14 |
| Managing time | 7 |
| Being a good parent (personal responsibility) | 7 |
| Teaching morals and values | 6 |
| Feeding | 6 |
| <pre>Teaching (ABC's, reading, numbers, etc.)</pre> | 6 |
| Toilet training | 6 |
| Caring for ill child | 3 |
| Finding reliable babysitters | 1 |
| Helping child overcome fear | 1 |
| Pleasing parents | 1 |
| Managing money | 1 |
| No answer or none | <u>11</u> |
| Total | 70* |
| | |

^{*}Some girls gave more than one response.

Young mothers need:

- 1. To accept responsibility.
- 2. To find and develop a set of personal values.
- 3. To understand child development more fully.
- 4. To learn techniques for child guidance.

The Need to Accept Responsibility

From the responses it was evident that the fact of being responsible for the whole life of another person was a big burden in the minds of the young mother. This involved accepting the loss of personal freedom as well as the burden of parenthood. For some it meant the additional responsibility of being both mother and father or feeling "all alone" with the task. For several there was a concern about financial responsibility. For those who were married there was the added responsibility of being a good "wife" and "homemaker" as well as "mother."

The Need to Find and Develop A Set of Personal Values

Several of the mothers were really searching. They asked, "What is right and what is wrong?" "I must first learn them (basic truths) myself and then teach my children." One mother found the most difficult thing about being a parent was "deciding what values I want my child raised with--times are a-changing." They need value standards that they are confident with and which apply to their everyday life.

This carries over into the need for a philosophy of discipline which is based on these personal values. The girls are asking in uncertain voices how and when to "discipline." Perhaps a new look at discipline as "child

management" based on workable values is really needed.

Emphasis could then be placed on "direction" rather than punishment.

The Need to Understand Child Development

Many of the tasks that the mothers listed as "especially difficult" could have been made easier if a greater knowledge and understanding of how a child grows and develops had been available. Perhaps too much is expected for the developmental level of the child. This seemed evident in the response, "teaching him like numbers and so forth. He doesn't like to be forced to learn ABC's and numbers which I feel he should learn now." Some of the distressed responses about toilet training being difficult may be the result of expecting too much too soon. Could many of the discipline problems have been avoided through better understanding of developmental stages?

The Need for Techniques for Child Guidance

Whenever a person learns a new skill he must also learn basic techniques. Many of the tasks that the girls listed as especially difficult might have been easier or eliminated altogether if the girl had had more experience or some special techniques (or tricks up her sleeve) for handling the situations. For example, the way a parent

asks a question can avoid the defiant "no." Many of these techniques can be easily learned.

A list of the specific tasks where skill training could be helpful was made from the questionnaire responses.

Caring for an ill child

Choice of a baby sitter

Pastime activities for children

Handling bedtime

Toilet training

Learning activities for the home

Child management (discipline) techniques

Interpersonal skills

Foods and feeding

Teaching values

Time management

This list is in no order or priority but simply lists areas named by the girls.

Where Young Mothers Get Advice

Where do these young mothers get advice and help for raising their children? It is obvious from answers to two earlier questions that they find many tasks difficult and have unanswered questions. Is there some clue from where they get advice that could be helpful in developing a useful curriculum? Table 20 gives the sources of information named by the girls.

TABLE 20. -- Where the girls get information to assist with raising their child.

| Source | Number of Girls Indicating Use (N=52)** | Number of Girls Considering This A "Most Helpful Source" | <pre>% of Girls Who Used Source That Found It "Most Helpful"</pre> |
|--|--|--|--|
| Parents Friends Doctor Magazines Pamphlets and books Radio and Television Newspapers Groups to share and talks things over Classes or schooling Department of Social Services Health Department Bible* Nursery School Teachers* "Me" Cooperative Extension Service Baw Beese Mental Health | * 11 22 23 11 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 25 11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 | 11 8 8 10 10 10 10 10 | 33.3 41.9 15.6 7.7 28.6 9.1 36.4 83.3 16.7 66.7 50.0 |
| Clinic* Husband* | rt rt | 0 0 | 00 |

**Added by Girls
Respondent could check more than one answer

Most of the girls depend on their own parents and their doctor for "accurate and helpful information."

These two categories were most frequently checked.

The girls more often listened to friends than attended classes or schooling yet those who did accept schooling considered it a "most helpful source." Those who listened to the advice of friends considered it a "most helpful source" only 41.9% of the time. It is significant that 83% of the girls who had attended classes or schooling found it "a most helpful source" of information. This was a higher percentage of acceptance than any other category (except the two girls who added the category "me"). The percentage was much greater than the 15.6% who checked the doctor as the "most helpful source," or even the 33.3% who indicated their parents as the "most helpful source."

Some girls liked to talk things over in groups and four felt that this was a most helpful source of information.

Some of the girls do read pamphlets and books. Six of those (28.6%) named these the "most helpful source" of information. They considered pamphlets and books more helpful than magazines and newspapers. Magazines and newspapers were seldom considered "most helpful." Radio and T.V. were checked by sixteen girls but never recognized as significantly helpful.

A few girls felt very deeply about their Christian religion as providing the answers for raising a family. Three girls added the Bible specifically to the list of sources of information and two of these recognized it as their "most helpful" source. One girl who recognized classes or schooling as most helpful named a religious family living training program as the source.

Very few girls took advantage of social services as a source of information. The Health Department, Department of Social Services, Cooperative Extension Service were seldom marked and in only four instances recognized as a "most helpful" source.

One interesting addition was the word "me" to the list of sources. The two girls who added this also double checked it as a "one source most helpful." These two girls evidently feel very independent and have decided that their own reasoning is best for them, or they lack trust in other persons.

The Kind of Help Girls Want

Although these girls were away from the Continuing Education Center at the time of the study there could be some implications for the family living program at the Continuing Education Center from information reported regarding what they would like to help them be a better parent now. This information could also be helpful to workers in agencies who work with young mothers. Table 21

summarizes the sources of help that the girls indicated they would like and use.

TABLE 21.--Desired sources of help for young mothers.

| Source | Girls Indicated They Would Like Available (N=52) | They Would |
|---|---|------------|
| Sharing groups | 29 | 16 |
| More pamphlets and books | 16 | 8 |
| Classes for parents | 16 | 4 |
| Specialist to call on for help | 14 | 7 |
| Nursery school | 13 | 5 |
| Family counseling | 13 | 4 |
| Day care center | 8 | 1 |
| Drop-in center | 4 | 2 |
| Crisis center | 2 | 0 |
| Opportunity to experience caring for older child* | 1 | 1 |

^{*}Added to list by one of the girls.

This study shows that most of the girls would like to participate in sharing groups, especially of young mothers. This demonstrates again the feeling the girls have that only those in the same situation can really understand the problems they face. Not only was this the most frequently checked category of help desired, but

one-third of the girls answering the question checked this as the one source they would most likely use.

The girls would like more pamphlets and books to help them as parents. Not only did they want them, they indicated that they would use them.

The girls wish they had a specialist, sort of a "super person," who would know all the answers that they could call on for help. It is interesting that every year the girls at the Center take a trip to the Cooperative Extension Service. There they are introduced to the Home Economist and told of the pamphlets, specialists, etc., that are available to parents through this service. They indicated on the questionnaire that they would like and would use a "specialist." Yet only one girl indicated she actually used the Cooperative Extension Service as a source of help.

Many of the social workers in other agencies could also perform the same "specialist" role but it is obvious that regardless of what the girls say they want and will use, they are not using the "specialists" that are currently available.

A few girls indicated that they would like to have a nursery school available. There are three nursery schools in Hillsdale that are always filled to capacity but practically nothing is available out in the county.

Those that are available are strictly nursery schools and

do not provide long enough care to help the full-time working mother.

Classes for parents and family counseling were also frequently checked by the girls as help that they wish were available and yet not so many girls indicated they would use them. Family counseling is available in the county at the Baw Beese Mental Health Clinic. During the year at the Continuing Education Center all the girls are taken to this agency for a visit so they should be aware of this service.

The girls were asked to indicate family living subject areas that would be most helpful for classes, sharing groups or pamphlets. By far the greatest number of girls checked "discipline." Following quite closely was child care and surprisingly financial management came in third. These results are shown in Table 22.

How the Continuing Education Center Can Help

The girls were asked what things they wished they had learned in class at the Continuing Education Center that would help them as mothers. These suggestions provide much information for program planning.

It is evident that the girls wished they had known what was ahead. Many stated that the problems of the tod-dler and pre-schooler were even more baffling than those of the infant. It would no doubt be the adolescent or

TABLE 22.--Family living subject areas where girls desire help.

| Subject Area | Number of Girls Desiring Help (N=52) |
|---------------------------------|--|
| Discipline | 34 |
| Child care | 32 |
| Financial management | 23 |
| Home management | 19 |
| Nutrition | 18 |
| Interpersonal relationships | 15 |
| Human sexuality | 10 |
| Birth control* | 1 |
| The ill child* | 1 |
| Nervous children* | 1 |
| Family relationships* | 1 |
| Decorating* | 1 |
| <pre>God-centered family*</pre> | . 1 |

Areas written in by girls in addition to those on the list.

teen-age years that would be the puzzling time if the questionnaire were sent again in ten years. One girl's comment is typical. "I didn't find them hard to care for (as infants) but as they get older, the problems get bigger."

It is always difficult to provide any help in caring for older children in a class of young girls. They

aren't aware or interested or motivated by discussing problems they do not have at that time. One girl probably stated the truth when she said, "There is no way to prepare a person completely, because there are not two alike."

The comment from one of the girls that "experience is the best teacher" probably points the way that the Continuing Education Center can help. When the girls bring their own babies to class, the classroom is a place where all the girls can hold, change, play with, feed, and generally care for the infants. More effort can be made to make sure every expectant girl participates in the infant care—not just the mother.

More opportunity must be arranged for the girls to gain experience with older children. A nearby cooperative nursery school may provide a laboratory for these girls.

A block of time spent with younger children could "speak louder" than hours of classroom lessons on the same subject.

Classroom discussions which react to the actual experience would have more real meaning.

The girls wish that their husbands or boyfriends were involved. It is very difficult to get these young men involved because generally they are quite immature, embarrassed by the situation and circumstances, and quite unwilling to cooperate. Often they work second shifts and are not free evenings. Evening classes would have to be organized on a volunteer basis on the part of most professionals.

Nevertheless, in spite of the difficulties, a constant alert must be maintained to opportunities to provide this help. Certain topics generate interest enough to attract these young men. The movie on labor and delivery, for example, can be shown in an evening or on a Saturday afternoon when the girls can bring their boyfriends. This has been tried with moderate success.

Perhaps a series of classes for couples could be organized by the Cooperative Extension Service or the Adult Evening School that would coordinate with the Continuing Education Center.

Many comments and suggestions made by the girls focused in the area of personal and psychological needs.

More group and personal counseling is evidently needed in spite of the fact that this is currently a priority area.

The Continuing Education Center must be alert to techniques and opportunities for being more effective.

The "how to" comments by the girls show the need for techniques that will help them "potty train," wean, discipline, etc. (This has already been discussed in the section on needs of young mothers.) The Continuing Education Center should zero in on techniques as the girls gain experience. Techniques are material for classroom discussions, but are most effective when the girls can share experiences such as in home situations or in participation time at a local nursery school. With professional guidance

backed up by the latest child development information this must be a continual emphasis in the family living program.

Perhaps the greatest additional service could be provided by the Continuing Education Center by either organizing, or seeing that an organization is provided for continuing discussion groups, study clubs, adult education classes or something to follow the girls after they leave. This seemed to be a desire that many of the girls had.

Present emphasis on prenatal care and infant care at the Continuing Education Center should be continued, of course. This has always received a priority. Care should be taken, however, to see that every girl has answers to her questions in this area. Occasionally a girl who attends only a short time misses much of this instruction. The baby bath lesson, for example is only done once a semester. Perhaps a checklist of some of the basic prenatal and infant care lessons and demonstrations should be used periodically to demonstrate to the instructors "who" has missed "what."

Money management was listed as an important need area. A unit on this is a part of every year's instruction at the Continuing Education Center. Many girls would miss this who only enroll for part of the year. This should receive wider emphasis with some technique used to assure financial instruction for every girl.

The study and evaluation brought out many important considerations. One value demonstrated was that of taking a periodic objective look at the curriculum and its usefulness for the girls who participate in it. A questionnaire of this type should be used again in a few years.

CHAPTER VIII

SUMMARY, RECOMMENDATIONS AND REACTIONS

Taking a look back at the goals for this study the question now is, "How well were the goals met?" Was the information desired really attained?

Information About the Girls

Information sought about the girls was quite complete. Eighty-five out of ninety-one girls were located; this represents 93.4%. The description of the girls that was made in Chapter IV is really quite accurate as of April, 1975.

The age of the girls surveyed at the time of the study ranges from seventeen to twenty-five. Seventy-eight percent of the girls still live within the county with another seven percent living within the state. They have not moved far away. Eighty percent are married. Nearly fifty-nine percent married the father of their first baby and remained married to him at the time of the study.

Forty-five percent of the girls had a second child but only six girls (7%) had more than two so it can be said that there is no great trend to have several children. Forty percent still have only one child. Most of the girls kept the baby from the pregnancy for which they enrolled at the Center.

Nearly 73% of the girls finished high school but very few girls have gone on for any further education.

The husbands have attained a much higher level of education than the girls.

Over half of the girls are either working or looking for work. They have a difficult time if they work finding a suitable arrangement for child care. The most common arrangement is taking the child to a baby sitter's house. Nineteen percent of the husbands were not working at the time of the study.

In order to have a better picture of what happens to the girls who attend the Continuing Educational Center another study should be made a few years later. It is difficult to really see any accurate trends when only one to six years have passed.

Also, to truly compare, the study should have been made over a five year period so that each class of girls could be studied after a similar length of time. It is impossible to get any trend in family size when some of the girls have been out of school only a year and others six years.

Evaluation of the Continuing Education Center

It was gratifying to receive such a positive evaluation of the Continuing Education Center from the girls who returned the questionnaire. Nearly every girl who replied was glad that she had enrolled, had pleasant memories, would encourage her friends to attend, and felt the Continuing Education Center should be continued. A word of caution should be added here, however. The questionnaire was returned by only 65.9% of those who had attended. It is quite possible that some, if not many, who did not reply to the questionnaire were more critical.

The girls particularly liked the fellowship with other girls who were pregnant, more individual help with schoolwork and personal problems, and the pre-natal classes. A crying need for friends, individual help, and personal attention is reflected in many areas of the study. Here it is significant that as the girls look back at a difficult time in their lives they realize how important the personal contact was. A message is contained here for those who work with youth.

It was a parent most often, or a husband or boyfriend, who encouraged the girl to stay in school. It was
the person who had personal interest in her welfare. Sometimes it was a teacher.

In such a large society with a tendency for large school systems where in a middle school and/or a secondary

level school one teacher may have as many as 175 different students or one counselor may be assigned to three or four hundred students, how can the individual student find someone who cares enough when personal problems arise? Certainly innovative ideas for more personalized attention in the school systems would pay rich rewards in the welfare of the next generation.

Arrangement for transportation, having a limited teaching staff, and being separated from old friends were seen by the girls as the greatest disadvantages. As already pointed out, funding and practicality are the contributing factors that foster the first two. They must be continually considered as disadvantages with an open view to possible solutions. The importance of friends and fellowship must be recognized as a part of the program at the Center.

Looking at Parenthood

The questionnaire was designed to seek out problems that these young mothers face in order that curriculum at the Continuing Education Center can be designed to give the girls the help that they need. It was realized at a later time how negative this was in seeking out only problems. To "view parenthood" one must also recognize the many joys. In spite of this one-sided point of view, the replies did contribute to the goals of this study.

The most difficult things about being a parent that the girls stated were: accepting the responsibility, knowing what is "right" and what is "wrong," and disciplining the children. How can these things be taught in school? Can they be taught in school?

Perhaps the new emphasis on "Education for Parenthood" can develop some ways. Certainly the new curriculum "Exploring Childhood," is a step in the right direction. The idea of placing secondary school boys and girls in situations where they participate in activities with small children under the guidance of a trained adult is going to provide some insight for them into the responsibilities of parenthood and into child development. It is when persons actually experience situations that they realize what they need to know and do. This is certainly a step in the right direction.

A question arises in the mind of the writer about teaching "technique." The philosophy of the Exploring Childhood curriculum is that technique is "caught" rather than "taught." They place the secondary school boys and girls in situations with children as "apprentices" under trained teachers who are using good technique (Clayton, 1975). There is no question that this is worthwhile. Will it be "caught," however, and could it also be taught and verbalized? Are there some essential techniques that would not be demonstrated that should be taught?

Toilet training is a good example. Would the secondary school student, working in a nursery school situation a few hours a week really have an opportunity to see and develop any skill in working with a child on toilet training? Yet, on the questionnaire returned by the young mothers this is one area where the mothers are crying for help. Is there information and technique that could be taught that would be of help when the time comes? Or, is this something that every mother must fumble through and learn on her own by doing.

Discipline is another area. Certainly here the "Exploring Childhood" curriculum could be a great learning experience. But, are there techniques for working with children that could be taught and practiced that would enable them to feel more confident in working with their own child later?

From the questionnaires, the young mothers need some workable techniques for many situations. Providing training in techniques in working with children is certainly a task that must be accepted at the Continuing Education Center.

What about techniques to work with older children and adolescents? How and where can these be taught? Or maybe the question is "when should these be taught?" It would be interesting to follow this study with another similar questionnaire in about ten years. Would the girls

feel just as frustrated but with the new and different problems of the adolescent? How can the "Exploring Childhood" curriculum or any secondary school family life curriculum prepare a student for these experiences which she will face several years after school? Yet it is the problems of parenting the adolescent that fostered the need for a Continuing Education Center, granted that the problems probably started in early childhood.

The fact that a large percentage of the girls would like to be a part of a sharing group of young mothers or parents should not be overlooked. The organization of groups is perhaps out of the realm of the public school but not of other community agencies. This demonstrates the need or desire these mothers have for fellowship and support. Perhaps this could and should be the vehicle for continuing "Education for Parenthood" into the time when it is needed most.

The Need for Values Clarification and Personal Philosophy

One finding that attracted the attention of the writer was the responses that "cried for help" in the area of personal philosophy. The girls wished they knew "what is right and what is wrong." This is a personal thing and each girl must work values out for herself, but who will help her? The responses seemed confused about many things.

Some of the comments in response to "what do you consider the most difficult thing about being a parent?" were:

"It's hard to know if the way you are raising your kid is the right way or not."

"Trying to decide what is right or wrong for the children."

"Deciding what values I want my children raised with--Times-are-a-changing."

Dr. Byron Oberst in his articles in the Nebraska Medical Journal expressed his concern about the confusion and lack of personal and workable philosophy in the lives of young people today (Oberst, 1970). How much of this confusion is responsible for the rising rate of illegitimacy? Should our society set any value standards? Or, are we to continue to allow adolescents freedom and the "adult" right of deciding right from wrong, when they have been given little or no guidance or instruction and so easily fall victim to sex drives and emotions?

Final Statement

It was a delightfully enriching experience to contact the former students of the Continuing Education Center and learn from them their thoughts, feelings, and reactions. The writer believes that these girls are not much different in their thoughts and feelings from young mothers in general of all ages. They need additional help and support because they have hardly had time to grow up themselves. Their goals for their family are to be commended,

however, and they really want to be fine parents. It is hoped that this study will enable the Continuing Education Center to be of greater service to the young mothers who will attend in the years to come.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Anderson, Rose S. "Meeting the Educational Needs of the Pregnant Teenager." <u>Illinois Teacher</u>. V. 17, N. 1, pp. 14-18, September-October 1973.
- Atkyns, G.C. "Trends in the Retention of Married and Pregnant Students in American Public Schools." Social Education. V. 41, pp. 57-65, 1968.
- Aughinbaugh, Sally Ann. "An Exploratory Study To Describe Some Personal and Socio-Economic Characteristics and to Identify the Aspirations of Female School Drop-Outs." Thesis for the degree of Master of Arts, Department of Family and Child Sciences, Michigan State University. 1966.
- Badger, Earladeen D. "A Mothers' Training Program." Childen Today. U.S. Department of H.E.W., Office of Child Development. Children's Bureau, V.L, N. 3, May-June 1972.
- _____. "A Mothers' Training Program--The Road to a Purposeful Existence." Children. V. 18, N. 5, September-October, 1971.
- Boykin, Nancy M. "A School Centered Program for Pregnant Teenagers." Continuing Education for Girls Bulletin of Detroit Public Schools. 1968.
- Bracken, March. "Lessons Learned from a Baby Care Club for Unmarried Mothers." Children. V. 18, N. 4, 1971.
- Braen, Bernard B. and Forbush, Janet B. "School-Age Parenthood, A National Overview." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 256-262, 1975.
- Brown, Mary Anne Symons. "Education for Parenthood, A New Idea?" Forecast for Home Economics. V. 20, N. 5, pp. 19, 42. January 1975.
- Burchinal, L.G. "Trends and Prospects for Young Marriages in the United States." <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>. V. 27, N. 2, pp. 243-254, 1965.

- Butman, Jean W., and Kamm, Jane A. "The Social Psychological and Behavioral World of the Teen-Age Girl."

 Report of Research from the University of Michigan Center for Research on Utilization of Scientific Knowledge Institute for Social Research, June, 1965.
- Childs, Robert. "The Pregnant Public School Student: Legal Implications for School Administrations."

 Report of a study at the University of Denver.

 Denver, Colorado. 1972.
- Clayton, Marilyn. "Overview of Exploring Parenthood."
 Unpublished paper, 14 pages, 1974.
- Cobliner, W.G. "Teen-age Out-of-Wedlock Pregnancy: A Phenomenon of Many Dimensions." Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine. V. 46, N. 6, pp. 438-437, June 1970.
- Danforth, Joyce; Miller, Diane; Day, Anne; and Steiner, George. "Group Services for Unmarried Mothers." Children. V. 18, N. 2, March-April, 1971.
- Educational Services for School-age Parents. Resource
 Manual New Brunswick Board of Education. New
 Jersey Department of Education. Trenton, New Jersey.
 82 pages, January 1974.
- Faigel, Harris C. "Unwed Pregnant Adolescents A Synthesis of Current Viewpoints." Clinical Pediatrics. V. 6, N. 5, pp. 281-285, 1967.
- Forcast for Home Economics: "Pros and Cons and Other Comments About Education for Parenthood." Comments by readers. V. 20, N. 7, pp. 34, 38, 40. March 1975.
- Furstenberg, Frank F. Jr. "Birth Control Experience Among Pregnant Adolescents: The Process of Unplanned Parenthood." Social Problems. V. 19, pp. 192-203, 1971.
- Grady, Elaine. "Models of Comprehensive Service Hospital Based." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 268-270, May 1975.
 - Harrison, Colin P. "Teenage Pregnancy Is Abortion the Answer?" Pediatric Clinics of North America. V. 16, N. 2, pp. 363-369, May 1969.

- Harrison, Charles. "Schoolgirl Pregnancy: Old Problem,
 New Solution." Publications of the National School
 Public Relations Association. Washington, D.C.,
 1972.
- Herzog, Elizabeth. "Unmarried Mothers the Service Gap Revisited." Children. V. 14, N. 3, pp. 105-110, 1967.
- Hoeft, Douglas L. "A Study of the Unwed Mother in the Public Schools." Journal of Educational Research. V. 61, N. 5, pp. 226-229, 1968.
- Howard, Marian. "Pregnant School-Age Girls." Journal of School Health. V. 61, N. 7, pp. 361-364, 1971.
 - _____. "To Promote Comprehensive Continuing Education Programs for School Age Pregnant Girls." Annual Report. Consortium on Early Childbearing and Child Rearing. U.S. Department of H.E.W., Washington, D.C. June 1972.
 - Howard, Marian and Eddinger, Lucy. "Beginning a Program for Pregnant School-Age Girls." Consortium on Early Childbearing and Child Rearing. Washington, D.C., 1972.
 - Howard, Marian. "Multidisciplinary Services for School-Age Pregnant Girls." American Journal of Orthopsychiatry. V. 20. N. 2, pp. 289-290, March 1970.
 - _____. "National Trends in Serving School-Age Parents."

 Cyesis Programs Consortium. Unpublished paper.

 Washington, D.C. December 1970.
 - . "The Webster School: A District of Columbia
 Program for Pregnant Girls." U.S. Department of
 H.E.W. Social Rehabilitation Service. Children's
 Bureau. Research Report No. 2. Washington, D.C.,
 1968.
 - Husting, E.L.; Khoury, E.C; Cohen, P.B.; Markel, J.R.; and Schlesinger, E.R. "Guidelines for Self-Evaluation of Programs Serving Adolescent Parents." Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh. 156 pages, 1973.
- Jekel, James. "Appraising Programs for School-Age Parents."

 The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp.

 296-300, May 1975.

- Johnson, Clara L. "Adolescent Pregnancy: Intervention Into the Poverty Cycle." Adolescence. V. 9, N. 1, pp. 60-75. March 1974.
- Jones, Wyatt. "What are Unmarried Mothers Really Like?"
 Unpublished paper read at the National Convention
 on Social Welfare (Atlantic City, 1960) ditto,
 25 pages.
- Keeve, J. Philip. "Selected Social, Education and Medical Characteristics of Primiparous Twelve to Sixteen Year Girls (Newburgh, New York)." Pediatrics.
 V. 36, N. 3, pp. 394-401, March 1965.
- Schools are Teaching Pregnant Teenagers." Today's Health. V. 50, N. 6, pp. 54-60, June 1972.
- Kinch, R.A.H.; Wearing, Morris, P.; Love, E.J.; and McMahon, Dianne. "Some Aspects of Pediatric Illegitimacy."

 American Journal of Obstetrics and Gyneocology.

 V. 105, N. 1, pp. 20-31, January 1969.
- Klaus, Hanna; Meurer, Jeanne; and Sullivan, Anne: "Teenage Pregnancy: Multidisciplinary Treatment and Teaching." Journal of Medical Education. V. 48, N. 11, November 1973.
- Klein, Luella. "Models of Comprehensive Service Regular School-Based." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 271, May 1975.
- Klerman, Lorraine V. "Adolescent Pregnancy: The Need for New Policies and New Programs." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 263-267, May 1967.
- Kruger, W. Stanley. "Education for Parenthood and School-Age Parents." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 292-295, May 1975.
 - LaBarre, Maurine. "A Community Project for Continuing Education, Health and Social Services for Pregnant School Girls." Duke University, North Caroling Medical Center, 1969.
 - McCarthy, James and Syropoulas, Mike. "Evaluation of the Program to Continue the Education of Girls Who Must Leave School Because of Pregnancy." Report: The Research and Development Department, Program Evaluation Section, Detroit Public Schools. October, 1972.

- Menken, J. "The Health and Social Consequences of Teenage Childbearing." Family Planning Perspectous. V. 4, pp. 45-53, 1972.
- National Academy of Sciences. <u>Maternal Nutrition and the Course of Pregnancy</u>. <u>Bulletin of National Academy of Sciences</u>. <u>Pp. 140-141</u>. Washington, D.C. 1970.
- National Center for Health Statistics. "Trends in Illegitimacy, U.S., 1940-1965." Vital and Health Statistics. PHS Publication No. 1000, Sec. 21, No. 15, Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1968.
- ______. "Marriage Statistics Analysis, U.S., 1963."

 Vital and Health Statistics. PHS Publication No.

 1000, Sec. 21, No. 16, Washington, D.C., U.S.

 Government Printing Office, 1968.
- ______. "Natality Statistics Analysis, U.S. 1965-1967."

 Vital and Health Statistics. PHS Publication No.

 1000, Sec. 21, N. 19, May 1970. Washington, D.C.

 U.S. Government Printing Office, 1970.
- . "Teenagers: Marriages, Divorces, Parenthood and Mortality." Vital and Health Statistics.
 Series 21, N. 23, Department H.E.W. Publication No. (HRA) 74-1901. U.S. Department of H.E.W. Public Health Service. Health Resources Administration. Rockville, Maryland. August, 1973.
- Oberst, Byron R. "Adolescents and Some of Their Social Problems Including Parenthood." Part I and II.

 Nebraska Medical Journal. V. 55, N. 9 and 10.

 Pp. 534-537, 614-619, 1970.
- Pannor, Reuben and Evans, Byron. "The Unmarried Father Revisited." The Journal of School Health. V. 45, N. 5, pp. 286-291. May 1975.
- Pannor, Reuben; Evans, Byron and Massarik, F. "The Unmarried Father." Springer Publishing Co., New York. March 1971.
- Profiles of Youth. 1971 White House Conference on Youth.
 Resource Book. U.S. Government Printing Office.
 Washington, D.C. 1971.
- Recommendations: Composite Report of Forum Findings.

 Golden Anniversary White House Conference on Children and Youth. United States Government Printing Office. Washington, D.C. 1960.

- Schultz, Shirley. "Follow-Up Study of Students of the Continuation School." Report of School District of the City of Saginaw. Eight pages. 1968.
- Shahan, Cynthia; Baigerman, Michael; Ellison, David; and Schlesinger, Edward. "A National Study of Comprehensive Programs for Pregnant Adolescents: 1970-71." Research Report. Graduate School of Public Health. University of Pittsburgh, 1970.
- Stine, Oscar C., and Kelley, Elizabeth B. "Evaluation of a School for Young Mothers: The Frequency of Prematurity Among Infants Born to Mothers Under 17 Years of Age, According to the Mother's Attendance of a Special School During Pregnancy." Pediatrics. V. 46, N. 4, pp. 581-587, October 1970.
- Stine, Oscar C.; Rider, Rowland V., and Sweeney, Eileen.
 "School Leaving Due to Pregnancy in an Urban Adolescent Population." American Journal of Public Health.
 V. 54, N. 1, pp. 1-6, January 1964.
- Van Der Ahe, Clyde V. "The Unwed Teenage Mother." American Journal of Obstetrics and Gyneocology.

 N. 2, pp. 279-287, February 1969.
- Vincent, Clark. <u>Unmarried Mothers</u>. New York, New York. The Free Press of Glenco Inc., 1961.
- Washington, Vivian. "Models of Comprehensive Service Special School-Based." The Journal of School Health.
 V. 45, N. 5, pp. 274-277. May 1975.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Instruments

Information Sheet

Questionnaires

- A. Evaluation of the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center
- B. Viewing Parenthood

| | INFOR | MATION SH | IEET | | NUMBER | |
|---------------------|--------------|--|----------------|-----------------|-------------------------|----|
| NAME OF GIRL | | SOURC | E OF | INFOR | RMATION | |
| PRESENT AGE | | DATE_ | | | ···· | |
| PRESENT ADDRESS | | AGE A | T EN | ROLLME | NT | |
| | | GRADE | AT. | ENROLL | .MENT | |
| TELEPHONE | | AMOUN | IT OF | TIME | IN PROGRAM_ | |
| GIRL'S PRESENT MARI | TAL STATUS: | UNMARRIED MARRIED SEPARATE DIVORCED REMARRIE | .D .D .D | | WHEN? WHEN? WHEN? | |
| NUMBER OF CHILDREN: | AGES | OF CHILD | REN_ | | | |
| HUSBAND: NAME | | FATHE | R OF | FIRST | BABY: YES | NO |
| EDUCATION | | | | | | |
| EMPLOYMEN | T | KI | ND | | PLACE | |
| IF UNEM | PLOYED, WHY? | | | | | |
| GIRL'S EDUCATIONAL | STATUS: GRA | DE COMPLE | TED | | | |
| GIRL'S EDUCATIONAL | FIN | ISHED HIG | H SC | HOOL_ | WHERE? | |
| | FUR' | THER TRAI | NING | | WHERE? | |
| | K | IND OF TR | AINI | NG A TALTAIC | , WHY? | |
| | 11 | NO FUNTE | K IK | AINING | , WITT: | |
| GIRL'S EMPLOYMENT: | KIND OF EMPI | LOYMENT | | | | |
| | PLACE OF EM | | | | | |
| | FULL TIME | PAR | TTI | ME | | |
| | IF UNEMPLOY | | | | | |
| | HAS SHE WOR | KED PREVI | OUSL | Υ | WHEN? | |
| | WHERE? | | | | | |
| | HAS EMPLOYMI | ENT BEEN | SOUG | НТ | | |
| | RESULTS | | | | | |
| CHILD CARE ARRANGEM | | | | | | |
| COMMENTS: | | | | | | |

EVALUATION OF THE HILLSDALE COUNTY CONTINUING EDUCATION CENTER

| LOOKing back to the time when you w Continuing Education Center would y | |
|---|-----------------------------------|
| I'm glad I enrolled at the | Continuing Education Center |
| I wish I had stayed in pub | lic school for the entire time |
| I wish I had dropped out co | ompletely |
| I wish I had | |
| Looking back on enrollment at the (you now say: | Continuing Education Center would |
| I have pleasant memories | |
| It was o.k. | |
| I really didn't like to att | tend |
| $_{___}$ I disliked it very much | |
| What reasons would you give as | to why you checked the above? |
| Center? (Mark them 1,2,3,etc. ir important. Add several others that Fellowship with other girls | you think of.) |
| More individual help with s | |
| Shorter school hours | |
| Help with personal problems | |
| More privacy | |
| Can bring baby to class | |
| Special subjects: | |
| Prenatal care | Money management |
| Infant care | Family relationships |
| Marriage | Arts and crafts |
| Home management | Other |
| 0ther | |
| Other | |

What do you feel were the greatest disadvantages in attending the Continuing Education Center? (Mark them 1,2,3,--etc. in order that you would feel them important. Add several other that you think of.) Location Transportation It separated me from my friends Limited class offerings ___Only one or two teachers for everything ____Teachers are limited in some subject areas Going to school with only young mothers Limited social life Time school started The teachers didn't understand me Lack of support from parents or husband Check the persons who were the most helpful in encouraging you to stay in school. A public school classroom teacher ____The public school counselor ___The principal A teacher at the Continuing Education Center A friend A parent Husband or boyfriend Doctor Social Worker

Now go back and place a double check before the one person who was most helpful.

| Do you feel that pregnant girls who drop out of school entirely should be encouraged to go back and finish? |
|---|
| YesNo |
| If yes, how could they be encouraged? |
| |
| If no, why not? |
| |
| Would you encourage a friend to attend the Continuing Education Center? |
| YesNo |
| Do you have any suggestions of things that could be done to help girls who enroll attend classes at the Continuing Education Center more regularly? |
| |
| Do you now feel that an alternative program such as the Continuing Education Center is a program that should be continued? |
| YesNo |
| Why? |
| |
| |
| Would you like to be sent a summary of the results? |

VIEWING PARENTHOOD

| What do you consider the most difficult thing about being a parent? | |
|---|---|
| | |
| Are there specific tasks or jobs as a parent that are especially difficult? Please list. | |
| | _ |
| | |
| Where do you now get accurate and helpful information you need to assist you with raising your child? (Check all that you use.) | |
| Radio and television | |
| Magazines | |
| Newspapers | |
| Parents | |
| Classes or schooling (Where?) | ŀ |
| Doctor | |
| Friends | |
| Groups where we share and talk things over | |
| Health Department | |
| Cooperative Extension Service | |
| Department of Social Services | |
| Pamphlets and books | |
| | |
| | |

Please go back and place a double check before the one source that you consider most helpful.

| | 1 |
|--|-----|
| | 1 |
| | |
| | Į. |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | - |
| | |
| | 1 |
| | - 1 |
| | 1 |
| | İ |
| | ١ |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | - |
| | 1 |
| | |
| | 1 |
| | |
| | 1 |
| | - |
| | 1 |
| | - |
| | |
| | - (|
| | |
| | 1 |
| | |
| | - 1 |
| | |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | |
| | |
| | - 1 |
| | - [|
| | - 1 |
| | |
| | 1 |
| | - |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | - 1 |
| | |
| | } |
| | - 1 |
| | } |
| | 1 |
| | i |
| | 1 |
| | 1 |
| | - 1 |
| | |
| | j |
| | - 1 |
| | Ì |
| | |

APPENDIX B

LETTER TO FORMER STUDENTS

Dear

Since you were in one of the first groups of girls who attended the Continuing Education Center, you have some feelings, impressions and ideas that could be very valuable in helping other girls.

This year a study and evaluation of the Hillsdale County Continuing Education Center is being made to find out if and how it served you and how it could better help other girls. Would you please take a few minutes and give some thought to the enclosed questionnaire? Every idea that comes into your mind is valuable. Good honest criticism is very welcome because only when these things are known can something be done about them. New suggestions and ideas would contribute greatly so please send yours.

A stamped envelope is enclosed for you to return the questionnaire. Sign your name if you wish, but if you prefer not to, that is all right. All the information will be compiled together for a report so no individual identity will be revealed. If you like you will be sent a summary of the results.

Thank you very much for taking the time.

Sincerely,

Ardath McCall, Teacher Continuing Education Center

APPENDIX C

Individual Responses Made by the Respondents to the Question "Why Do You Feel The Continuing Education Center Should be Continued?

Individual Responses Made by the Respondents to the Question "Why Do You Feel The Continuing Education Center Should be Continued?"

It gave me something that I had worked eleven and a half years to get, something my parents wanted so bad, the thing I've had to fall back on-my diploma.

It gives the girls like me a chance to finish school. Some schools frown on going to school being pregnant and I felt too embarrassed to finish my senior year.

The girls that really want to finish school and are good in school work should definitely have the same opportunities to graduate that I did.

While the Adult Education program in Hillsdale is terrific, there are girls who would feel less self-conscious in the alternative program.

A pregnant girl can't get an education any easier than the Continuing Education Center. I would never have made it without it.

Because it's a beginning for some girls to start understanding themselves--to continue learning about more than just high school general courses.

To give the girls a chance to finish school--to let them know that there is a place to go and that somebody cares.

Because some people can't take the gossip and looks that one might get in school. They need the security of privacy and the individual help.

It is very helpful to young girls to be more interested in continuing their education.

I was expectant in elevanth grade and it would have helped me as well as other girls to have a program for the young mother to continue school and help them with the child until they were to graduate instead of having to go back to a public school with kids that have no responsibilities and no children to care for. (Note: This girl wanted to come back for a second year which has not been a policy of the Continuing Education Center.)

Because you can't finish school in a lot of placed and this way if you want to you can have a chance.

To me it shows someone cares about what happens to you. When I was pregnant I felt out of place in public as I wasn't married. At this school everyone there was pregnant and I felt more at ease.

Because I believe it makes girls more at ease and not stared at and you still learn a lot.

More individual help.

Lots of girls want to finish school and this is a way that they can.

Because what pregnant (maybe married) girl wants to sit in a regular classroom eight hours a day and put up with the other kid's smart remarks?

The courses you carry on child care, etc., are important and many young girls don't know these things. High schools don't teach this. It also gives you a chance to share your feelings with other girls in more or less the same situation.

It helps out a lot when your're pregnant.

It's easier on you to only have school half-days when you have a child to care for.

This is a good program. I was really thankful for it. It was a lot easier to continue my education with it.

It best fits the physical and emotional needs for the pregnant girl, because in all truth she is in a predicament. The fellowship of others like herself is good.

I would never have made it without the program.

Because, just like me, high schools won't let you go to school after so long so you'd end up failing the semester. This way a person has a chance to finish. (Note: Schools did do this in 1968 but not in 1975.)

The program gives a pregnant girl a place where she can get an education and at the same time learn about caring for a baby.

Girls need personal attention and they can get it this way. They can learn about how to cope with themselves.

It makes the pregnant girl feel as though she has support in finishing her education. There are generally night classes available but some girls may not feel as comfortable at those as they would in the Continuing Education Center where in a certain respect they are all equal.

I think being pregnant you should continue your education because most mothers-to-be have a lot to learn and aren't really prepared.

Because it gives a chance for girls who are pregnant to finish their education.

There are girls who want it (the alternative school) and it's not as embarrassing as a public school.

Because it gives girls that might drop out of school a chance to go on and finish.

The girls don't get the harassment as in regular school. They get more out of the subjects this way.

The Center hits some of the problems of a new mother and prepares her for her future as a mother and a wife--a regular school doesn't.

It's a practical class. I'm sure all of us learned more that we use now than we learned in regular home economics class. And besides, taking care of a baby, a home, and a husband is rough enough without taking the extra pains of school work along with the difficult re-adjusting time a new family goes through.

Without myself finding out about such a program and enrolling, I never would have gotten my diploma.

I couldn't handle a full day of school and through this program I finished school and got some subjects not available in regular school that were more important to me.

Because more than likely if a girl gets pregnant she'll drop out of school and there's just got to be an alternative for her such as the Center.

Pregnant girls are not allowed to attend public schools and most would be ashamed to. (Note: Not in 1975--all girls can attend.)

It lets you know you're not the only girl with problems-you don't feel quite so alone.

If it weren't for the Continuing Education Center, there would be a lot of girls just completely quit school.

If it hadn't been for the Continuing Education Center, I don't think I would have finished school.

Everyone should have a chance to get an equal education. If pregnant girls can't take the pressures of public schools and if there weren't a program such as the Continuing Education Center, where else can they turn?

It was better than day school. Everybody was more concerned with you as a person than an "it" or a group. I think it helps more girls with problems. When a girl is pregnant she has all sorts of problems or at least she thinks she does. I wish I had been able to have attended more.

Because it's the best place to be when you're pregnant. The girls are in the same situation and no person should feel out of place. Also it teaches you what you need to know.

Because I enjoyed myself and learned a lot about being a mother and parent.

I have a sixteen-year old cousin who just married and had a baby with no continuing education program to help her finish. She will have to leave her baby with a sitter and go back to high school. I felt your program was indispensable.

Without it I would not have finished school and I'm sure a lot more girls would not have either.

Because it was very helpful to me. I really learned a lot about living and how to take care of myself in my classes.

When teen-age girls qet pregnant, sometimes they feel like outcasts, which they shouldn't. The atmosphere in this school helps them to realize they are normal and not bad as some people think.

Because if it wasn't for the center, I would have been a drop-out. The school means a lot to me. It has helped me prepare for my life as a parent.

It's important to get out of the house when you're pregnant --whether you live with your parents or on your own. It's often impossible when you're pregnant. I always needed time to be with others and not worry about my home problems.

Because it's a good deal. I liked it very much.

Because they teach classes in subjects we need to know about and they understand the problems we have where public schools and teachers don't.

I feel the school really gives you a reason for continuing your education.

Because some girls don't want everyone to know.

For some young women it gives a feeling of quietness in pregnancy and the alternative to keep the child or give it up without being tortured.

APPENDIX D

Classification of Responses to the Question "What Do You Consider the Most Difficult Thing About Being a Parent?"

Classification of Responses to the Question "What Do You Consider the Most Difficult Thing About Being a Parent?"

I. Accepting the Responsibility of Raising a Child (20)

The fact that you are responsible for your child and you have to realize they have feelings also. It's hard to know if the way you are raising your kid is the right way or not.

Responsibility of knowing how to teach the child right from wrong.

Keeping up with everything they need after making them mind, believe you really love them, and answering some of the questions they ask.

Teaching the child everything they need to know to get along in life.

Having the responsibility of a dependent child's life in your hands.

Having to raise her myself.

Trying to give our daughter everything that is needed now and in the future.

Training and loving your child in the way that's right for him now and in the future.

Accepting the responsibility that goes along with raising a child.

Just knowing that everything you do and say affects the way your children think and do as they grow up.

Being responsible for your children. Bringing them up to be somebody.

Having to decide what is right or wrong for the children.

Wondering if you're doing the best you can for your child's best interest.

Worrying about if you're raising and doing right for your child.

Raising a child--meeting their problems day by day.

To be able to raise my children as a family would. To be both mother and father.

Wanting to do more for the kids than I'm able to. Also, right now it's hard for me to show my twoyear old that he's as important as his baby sister.

Accepting parenthood was difficult.

Always doing the right thing for them.

To me, that's just one word, worry!

II. Teaching Moral Values (7)

Raising your child to be good, honest.

Making decisions to help children know right from wrong.

Bringing child up with a sound mind and good morals.

Deciding what values I want my children raised with. "Times are a-changing."

Teaching a child right from wrong and to have respect for you as a person.

Knowing how to teach the child right from wrong.

Today's society excludes the simple basic truths (Bible truths). I must first learn them myself and then teach my children.

III. Having Patience (7)

To be understanding and patient with my husband and child all the time. It's impossible, but you try.

Having patience with my child, trying to understand how he feels about certain things, realizing he doesn't always feel the same about certain things as I feel about them.

Understanding, patience, and to find time to give a child loving affection every day.

Not losing my temper with the kids.

Having patience.

Taking all the changes the child goes through.

Having patience and understanding.

IV. Discipline (6)

The right punishment for the wrong things they do.

Discipline--when it is necessary and how to go about it.

Being consistent in disciplining the children.

Disciplining my son.

Disciplining.

Being able to say "no" to my child and stick to it.

V. Loss of Personal Freedom (5)

Not being able to do what you want when you want to.

Not being able to go out as before. Having to find a responsible person to watch your child.

It puts a stop to some of a parent's freedom.

Just the responsibility of being there all the time for supper, baths, etc.

When you're young, most of your friends are single. It's hard to get used to staying home with the kids when you're always being invited to go out with them.

VI. Understanding the Child (5)

Trying to understand my child and knowing they depend on my judgement.

Trying to understand the child and his actions.

Relating to children, remembering they are young but sometimes smarter than given credit for.

Doing what is best for each child.

Trying to understand how he feels about certain things--realizing he doesn't always feel the same about certain things as I feel about them.

VII. Accepting Advice (2)

Accepting advice from people who continually say, "I would do it this way or that if I were you."

Trying to raise the child the way you think best without being swayed by others.

VIII. Managing Time or Money (3)

To find time to give a child loving affection every day.

Finding enough time for everything and everybody in one day.

Trying to save money so that the weeks you don't get so much you'll have enough to go around.

IX. Nothing (2)

None in our case. It's fun to watch our children grow.

It's nice being a parent when you have two wonderful kids to take care of like my two.

X. Being Overprotective (1)

Being overprotective of my children.

APPENDIX E

Classification of Responses to the Question "Are There Specific Tasks or Jobs as A Parent That Are Especially Difficult?"

Classification of Responses to the Question "Are There Specific Tasks or Jobs as A Parent That Are Especially Difficult?"

I. Discipline (14)

Trying to make the kids mind.

Disciplining.

Correcting the children (disciplinary actions).

Discipline at the right times and the right way.

Discipline, setting a good example.

Discipline.

Disciplining a child, not enough or too much.

Finding the best way to punish the children individually.

Correcting them.

The question of discipline is the hardest for me. I find myself being too easy on them at most times.

Keeping my patience when they're naughty.

Sticking to your word. (Telling a child "no" and sticking to it especially when they give you that pitiful hurt look.)

Getting them to go to bed.

Making him mind.

II. Managing Time (7)

Finding time to give proper attention to your children, the housework, and your husband all in one day.

My child likes me to play toys with her and I almost always do. We get to playing and before you know it the whole day is gone and we haven't accomplished a single thing besides playing toys. Some people don't think this is important to a child, but I do. I sure hope I'm not wrong.

Managing time and energy for all things that must be done--individual time with children, husband, housework, and self.

Finding time for myself (I can't wait to take a bath all by myself again).

Keeping the house cleaned.

Keeping the children entertained.

Trying to pay the same amount of attention to all the children. They get jealous very easy.

III. Being a Good Parent (Personal Responsibility) (7)

I think that being a parent is difficult.

Now I must begin to train myself, since my parents failed to do so as an appointed guardian of a child's soul. I must to the very best of my ability train my children in the instruction of God.

I worry about if I'm a good mother or not.

If I haven't got my eye on my children every minute of the day I worry terribly.

The task I worry about is that if I'll raise my child the way he or she should be.

Trying to copy with the boys' personality changes due to moving, hardships, misspoken words and all.

Giving him what he wants.

IV. Teaching Morals and Values (6)

Teaching my child to be independent but that independence can also go a little too far at his age.

Knowing when to say no and yes.

There is one--our daughter is very short tempered. We have to be very cool and calm all the time in order to keep her system in balance.

Trying to understand my child's feelings and ideas and treating her accordingly.

Teaching them right from wrong.

Teach them to share.

V. Feeding (6)

Only getting the child to eat the right things like vegetables.

My child has to be on a diet. It is very difficult keeping her on it.

Fixing well-balanced meals.

Getting them to eat the right foods.

Taking away one's bottle when the other has one.

Keeping a cool head and tons of patience during self feeding.

VI. Teaching (ABC's, Reading, Numbers, etc.) (6)

Teaching your child pre-school fundamentals, such as the writing and identifying of the alphabet.

Trying to explain the things to your child when they come up with lots of questions.

Helping my oldest boy in school.

Teaching the child the ABC's and counting.

How to teach him what he needs to know.

Teaching him like numbers and so forth. He doesn't like to be forced to learn ABC's and numbers which I feel he should learn now.

VII. Toilet Training (6)

Potty training.

Nothing other than potty training them.

Potty training.

Potty training.

Most difficult was the job of keeping a cool head and tons of patience during toilet training.

Potty training.

VIII. Caring for Ill Child (3)

Caring for the child when he's ill.

No, only when children are sick--it's so scary, I guess.

Trying to keep Joe from doing too much and explaining why he has to slow down and can't do as much as the other kids and what's going to happen to him.

IX. Finding Reliable Babysitters (1)

Finding reliable babysitters.

X. Helping Child Overcome Fear (1)

How to get the child to overcome fear of a dentist.

XI. Pleasing Parents (1)

Trying to please grandparents and great grandparents without indulging the child.

XII. Managing Money (1)

Having enough money for groceries and clothes.

XIII. No Answer or None (10)

No because I consider everything more a pleasure to be able to be proud of what I have done to make my home and child happier.

I can't think of any. It would be easier to discuss this whole matter than to write it down on paper.

No, not really, the only thing is I love him and it doesn't cause any specific problem. The love I have for him makes it easy for me.

They are hard finding.

(Six questionnaires contained no written response to this question.)

APPENDIX F

Responses to Questions Regarding How The Continuing Education Center Could Help Better Prepare Girls for the Role of Mother

Responses to Questions Regarding How The Continuing Education Center Could Help Better Prepare Girls for the Role of Mother

I. Child Care (22)

General (7)

More on child care.

More about having children and raising them better.

How to better care for your child.

Raising your children.

Having more group classes on child care.

The growing of children--the stages they go through and the discipline that should be used for each stage.

How to cope with them going through baby stages or talking a lot.

Infant Care (3)

The care and needs of the baby.

Prenatal care--more specific topics such as bathing, taking care of the baby's naval and such. I didn't know anything about this when my baby was born. (Note: This girl obviously missed this part of the instruction. All this is always a part of the family living class.)

What to know about babies as they grow up so you don't have to call the doctor so much. Learn how to handle, bathe, and feed a newborn so you're not so scared of them.

Child Development (12)

The increasing responsibilities of a parent after a child has entered school.

Problems with older children as well as young babies. I'm just learning about handling children age 3 and 4. I wish I knew more.

Caring for your child ages two to six, which a lot of parents consider the difficult years for discipline.

Children as they grow up three to eighteen years. I didn't find them hard to care for as an infant but as they get older the problems get bigger.

I wish I would have known of what to expect, how to discipline, and care for two-year olds and older. I find I have many more problems with my two-year old than with my baby.

The only thing that I find really hard is taking them growing up so fast and going through stages. I can't cope very well with all these stages.

If we could have had a group discussion with parents about the problems they had come across. I understand things more by talking.

Having a discussion class with someone who had kids and could tell you the ups and downs.

Knowing what lies ahead for you in about three years.

Have some pamphlets on children and have a class where we all learn and talk about it. Maybe bring in a couple of babies and everyone get to know them so we know what to expect when we have our own. (Note: The girls often bring their babies to class. This girl must have been a poor attender.)

So many times when people talk about being parents it's always the good things. I think sharing the bad and how to cope or handle certain situations would really be helpful.

Talking more about the older child than just the infant (ages 2-5).

II. Discipline (7)

Discipline and the importance of it.

What you should do and how to handle discipline of your child.

More about discipline. We are finding it very hard to punish our child and make her learn right from wrong.

The right kind of discipline. I feel this is one of the major problems today—not enough of the right discipline.

Disciplinary action for small children.

Different ways of disciplining a youngster.

More about the discipline of children.

III. Childhood Illnesses (6)

Sickness in infants through age five years.

Some of the childhood diseases. The parent is the one that is to see them and catch them in time. How can a parent catch diseases in time if they don't know the symptoms and what the symptoms could mean?

By covering the different kinds of child sickness such as colds, flu, etc., and what to do in such cases--what kind of medication to give.

More information on infant care-how to take care of the child for the first six or nine months, dealing with illnesses, etc.

How to care for your child during a sickness.

Discussing current childhood diseases and symptoms.

IV. Personal and Pyschological (11)

Christ and what He desires for my children, my husband, and myself.

How to handle a "trapped" marriage feeling.

The kind of problems that a marriage can bring as the years go on.

The mental block you can develop between a child and parent.

Being too overprotective of children.

It seemed everyone was more for my giving my baby up for adoption rather than raising her myself.

I guess I should have had some type of personal counseling on coping with the inner pressures of being a wife first, then a mother. I had no responsibility problem toward my child.

I wish I knew more at first about doctors. Not to just go along with what they said but say what I felt--like I can now.

I think that all young girls should have counseling because they don't even realize what's ahead. Talk with last year's class and children would be a big help.

Nervousness and pregnancy. Does it make a nervous baby?

Sexual problems.

V. Money Management (6)

More about financial management.

Financial management.

Money because I now have to care for it. When I have it, I spend it.

Money management.

Family budgeting.

Financial management.

VI. Classes for Husbands or Boyfriends (3)

I think, if anything, it would be to offer to people who wanted it classes for the husbands, or boyfriend (in my case) and the expectant mothers to participate in together.

It could have had some extra evening classes that included husbands and/or our parents. A lot of friends who had more or less the same situation say that young husbands could have also used some continuing education.

Problems a young husband faces and his responsibilities.

VII. Miscellaneous Family Living Suggestions (11)

More about sewing for my family.

The time a mother gives to child and still have time for the husband.

Nutrition and the younger child.

Home canning and preservation.

Psychology and art.

Decorating and furnishing a home.

A lot of girls come from homes, as I did, without learning how to keep house for one reason or another. It is overlooked in school, but just as if not more important than sex education anyway at this point when a girl is making home for self and family.

Methods of potty training.

Potty training.

Weaning from a bottle.

How to answer child's questions when he gets old enough to want to know about sex relationships and wanting to know why he turned out to be a boy instead of a girl.

VIII. No Suggestions (19)

It gave us a bigger and better knowledge of what was going on and why and what to expect and not to expect and how to deal with certain problems as they arise.

None that I know of. It had everything that I needed.

I don't think it could have prepared me any more than it did.

This center does not need any criticism. It helped me far more than what I can say.

I think the information was conveyed very well, but was received by an immature parent-to-be. Also, experience is the best teacher.

I am not sure they could have because this is something you do as you have to when the problems come up.

I don' think any more help was needed. It is something each person has different values on.

I found the classes very helpful and fully prepared.

I believe they did a good job in teaching me. We have to do it on our own and that's most of the teaching.

They couldn't have prepared any better really than they did. It's good, very good, that they have the Continuing Education Center. It helped me a lot for the time I went.

Could not have helped me more than already for my first child.

You did a good job--the rest had to be up to us.

There is no way to prepare a person completely, because there are not two kids alike. One has a whole different personality than another. One may be more slow or stubborn than the other.

I feel as though I was prepared very well.

I think from talking and listening and getting information from family and friends I learned an awful lot and have done quite well by it.

I think the program touched on all areas that would be helpful in becoming a parent. It would be impossible to know at the time of the program what problems each individual would have in the future.

I think the school was very helpful, but I don't think anyone really understands what the responsibilities are until they have them.

I personally feel that a young girl who becomes pregnant before marriage has a root problem--spiritual. Education is a fine thing but knowledge alone cannot make a person a success in their heart.

I was so young that I really didn't think about it at the time. I learned by experience.